COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 3 Y POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT
COUNTY OF:BUTLER _\ /. i -1 1% ey COMNONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
Magisterial District Numbes: 50-5-03 i A VS,
MDJ: Hon, William T. Fullerton DEFENDANT: (NAME and ADDRESS):
Address: 227 West Cunningham Street BRANDI PATRICIA ZEDIKER
Butler, PA 16003-1208 First Name Middle Name Last Name Gen
100 Spooner Drive
Telephone: (724)431-4854 Butler, PA 16002
NCIC Extradition Code Type
1-Felony Full [1 5-Felony Pending Extradition E1 C-Misdemeanor Surrounding States [ Distance:
{1 2-Felony Limited [ 6-Felony Pending Extradition Determ.  [] D-Misdemeanor No Extradition
[1 3-Felony Surrounding States [ A-Misdemeanor Full [] E-Misdemeanor Pending Extradition
[1 4-Felony No Extradition [] 8-Misdemeanor Limited [ F-Misdemeanor Pending Extradition
- DEFENDANT IDENTIFICATIOR I‘NFORMATION
Docket Number ate Filed OTN/LiveScan Number Complaint/incident Number Request Lab Services?
(- =120 kg o1 | (|4 2 | BN6005117B7 £ ves [INO
GENDER poB 7/4/1996"' | poB | " Y |adeipoB [ / Co-Defendant(s) []
[ Mate First Name Middle Name . last Name Gen.
B4 Female AKA
RACE < White [] Asian "] Black ] Native Amierican {1 Unknown
ETHNICITY Hispanic Non-Hispanic [_] Unknown
_ L] GRY (Gray) 1 RED (Red/Aubn.) [ spY (sandy) [] BLU (Biue} [ PLE (Puspie) BRO (Brown)
gg;;r [ BLK (Biack) [_] ONG (Orange) ] wHi (white) [ x#X (Unk./Baldy [ GRN (Green) [ PNK (Pink)
3 BLN {Blonde / Strawberry)
Eye [T BLK (Black) [ BLU (Biue) BRO {Brown) [’l GRN (Green) "] GRY (Gray)
Color [ HAZ (Hazel) - [ mAR (Maroon) ] PNK (Pink) [ MuL (Multicolored) [ XXX (Unknown)
DNA | O ves 1o | bNA Location WEIGHT (Ibs.)
FBI Number | MNU Number 110
Defendant Fingerprinted | [T YES [0 NO ' . : Ft. HEIGHT In.
Fingerprint Classification: | 5 ! 5
DEFENDANT VEHICLE INFORMATION
State | Haz Registration Comm'l Veh. School Veh. [ | Oth. NCIC Veh. Gode Reg.
Plate # “i‘j“ Sticker (MMYY) [ Ind. [ same as
VIN Year Make Model Style Color '

Office of the attorney for the Commonwealth X Approved [ Disapproved because:

[The attorney for the Commenwealth may require that the complaint, arrest warrant affidavit, or both be approved by the atterney for the Commonwealth prior to

filing. See Pa.R.Crim.P. 507).

MName of the altorney for the Commenwealth) (Signature of the attorney for the Commonwealth) / ({)ate)

I, DOUGLAS C. BRINK/TIMOTHY FENNELL 338/4179 |
(Name of the Affiant) (PSP/MPOETC -Assigned Afflant ID Nurnber & Bacge #

of _ Pennsylvania Office of Attorney General PA0222400 |
{Identify Departrent or Agency Represented and Poliical Subdivision) (Police Agency ORI Number} |

do hereby state: (check appropriate box)
1. & | accuse the above named defendant who lives at the address set forth above

1| accuse the defendant whose name is unknown to me but who is-described as

[ | accuse the defendant whase name and popular designation or nickname are unknown to me and whom | have

therefore designated as John Doe or Jane Daoe
with violating the penal laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania at [301] City Of Butler

(SuBdwision Code) | (PrasE-Fonticat SuBavision)

in BUTLER County [10] on or about JANUARY 18, 2020 THRU OCTOBER 15, 2020
(County Gode) .
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~ POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAENT

OTN/LiveScan Number Complaint/Incident Number

Docket Number: Date Filed: .

CY2- s e S E 2 -l BNB005117BZ.
5 f" dant N i First: ! Middle: | Last:

efendant Name: BRANDI PATRICIA ZEDIKER

The acts committed by the accused are described below with each Act of Assembly or statute allegedly violated, if appropriate.

When there is more than one offense, each offense should be numbered chronologically. :

{Set forth a brief summary of the facts sufficlent to advise the defendant of the nature of the offense(s) charged. A citation to the sfatute(s) allegedly violated,
without more, is not sufficient. [n a summary case, you must cite the specific section(s) and subsection(s) of the statute(s) or ordinance(s} allegedly violated.
The age of the victim at the time of the offense may be included if known, In addition, social security numbers and financial information (e.g. PiNs) should not

be listed. If the identity of an account must be established, list only the last four digits. 204 PA.Code §§ 213.1 - 213.7.)

Inchoate | [ Attempt [ Solicitation {7 Conspiracy Number of Victims Age 60 or Older
Offense 183071 A 18902 A 18 903

0 It 780-113 a(30) ofthe 5 TITLE 35 1 F
Lead? Oﬁ‘;”se Section Subsection PA Stalute (Tile) Counts Grade NC'%S;L‘"““ UCR/NIBRS Code

PennDOT Data
(if applicable) {7 Interstate [ Safety Zone [ Work Zone
Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance). DELIVERY OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE: THE CONTROLLED

SUBSTANCE, DRUG, DEVICE AND COSMETICS ACT, ACT 64 SECTION 13(A), CLAUSE 30(A) FELONY:

Accident Number

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense; In that the above named Deferdant on or about July 6, 2020, knowingly, intentionafly and
unlawfully defivered fentanyl/heroin (Scheduled T1/I) and the Defendant was not then and there licensed or registered as required by the Act of the Assembly of
the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, in viokation of Section 780-113 (a)(30) of the PA Controlled Substance, Prug, Device and Cosmetics Act (F)

Inchoate [] Attempt "l solicitation [ conspiracy Number of Victims Age 60 or Older
Offense 18901 A 18902 A 18 903
0 {2 7512 a .ofthe | TITLE 18 1 F3
Lead? Offense# Section Subsection PA Staiuie (Title) Counis Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/MNIBRS Code
PennDOT Data Accident
(if applicable) Nurmber O Interstate [ Safety Zone [] Work Zone

Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance): CRIMINAL USE OF A COMMUNICATION FACILITY- COMMISSION OF A
FEL ,

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense; In that the above named Defendant, between January 18, 2020 and October 15, 2020, did utilize
a communication facility to commit, cause or facilitate the deivery of heroin/fentanyl, a Schedule I/ II Controlied Substance in violation of Section 7512(a) of

the PA Crimas Code

Inchoate [] Attempt [ Solicitation {1 Conspiracy Number of Victims Age 60 or Older
Offense 18901 A 18902 A 18 903
O |3 903 a(l)  |otihe | TITLE 35 1 F
Lead? Offense# Section Subsection PA Statute {THle) Gounts Grade NCIC Offense Code UGR/NIBRS Cade
PennDOT Data Accident
(if applicable) NUmbear [3 interstate [] Safety Zone L1 work Zone

Statute Description (include the name of stafute or ordinance): CRIMINAL CONSPIRACY-ENGANGING:.

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that, between January 18, 2020 and October 15, 2020, the DEFENDANT, with the intent of
prometing or facilitating the crimes of Delivery of & Controlled Substance and/or Possession with Intent to Deliver a Controlled Substance, did conspire and
agree with Crystal Pakutz and/or others known and unknown that they or ane or more of them would engage in conduct constitufing such crime or an attempt

or solicitation to commit such crime, in violation of Sectien 903(a)(1) of the PA Crimes Code.
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POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

fket Number: Date Filed: . __OTN/LiveScan Number Complaint/Incident Number
3\ e le o | - A2 |22 RN R g W O BNB005117BZ

' First; ’ Middle: \ Last;
Defendant Name: BRANDI PATRICIA ZEDIKER

2. | ask that a warrant of arrest or a summons be issued and that the defendant be required to answer the charges | have
made.

3. 1 verify that the facts set forth in this complaint are true and correct to the best of my knowledge or information and
belief. This verification is made subject to the penalties of Section 4804 of the Crimes Code (18 Pa.C.S. § 4804) relating

to unsworn falsification to authorities.

4. This complaint consists of the preceding page(s) numbered 1 through __

5. | certify that this filing complies with the provisions of the Case Records Public Access Policy of the Unified Judicial
System of Pennsylvania that require filing confidential information and documents differently that non-confidential
information and documents.

The acts commitied by the accused, as listed and hereafter, were against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth
of Pennsylvania and were contrary to the Act(s) of the Assembly, or in violation of the statutes cited.
(Before a warrant of arrest can be issued, an affldawt of probable cause must be completed sworn to- before the

issuing authority, and attached.)

APRIL 28, 2021

(Date) s (Signature of Affiant)
AND NOW, on this_date S F f(jif/ﬂ. Lo W20 | certify that the complaint has been properly completed and verified.
An affidavit of probable cause must be completed before a warrant can be issued.
7 -
5205 e A
(Magisterial District Court Number} (lssuzng Author:ty) GEAL
e
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AFFIDAVIT

Douglas Brink, Narcotics Agent, of the Pennsylvania Office of Attorney General, Bureau of
Criminal Investigations assigned to the Bureau of Narcotics Investigations and Timothy Fennell,
Chief County Detective, Butler County District Attomey's Drug Task Force being duly sworn
according to law, depose and say:

Your Affiants are empowered by law to conduct investigations of and to make arrests for
offenses involving violations of the Pennsylvania Crimes Code.

On April 13, 2021, the Forty-Sixth Statewide Investigating Grand Jury issued Presentment
No. 14, recommending that criminal charges be filed against Brandi Zediker for violations of the
Pennsylvania Crimes Code. The aforementioned Presentment was accepted by the Honorable
Anthony M. Mariani, Supervising Judge of the Forty-Fifth Statewide Investigating Grand Jury, by
Order dated April 14, 2021. A copy of the Presentment and the Order accepting the Presentment is
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.

Having read and reviewed the Presentment, and after having participated in this investigation
and considering all the facts and circumstances, your Affiants are adopting the Presentment and
inéorporating it fully into this Affidavit of Probable Cause. Your Affiants aver that the testimony of
the individuals who appeared before the Forty-Sixth Statewide Investigating Grand Jury is consistent
with the information contained within Presentment No. 1 4 and the information developed within the
course of the investigation specified herein. Furthermore, Presentment No. 14 shows on its face that
it is based upon evidence which the Forty-Sixth Statewide Investigating Grand Jury reviewed and
evaluated which in_cluded sworn testimony of Witnessés appearing before it and physical evidence

presented to it.




Your Affiants have reviewed the evidence presented before the Forty-Sixth Statewide

Investigating Grand Jury and find that it comports with the findings of the investigation.

// e el e

R o
Douglas Brink
Narcotics Agent

Tlmothy Fennell
Chief County Detective

SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED e ,‘
BEFORE ME THIS &7 DAY

OF April , 2021




INTRODUCTION

We, the members of the Forty-Sixth Statewide Investigating Grand Jury, having received
and reviewed evidence pertaining to violations of the Controlled Substances, Drug, Device and
Cosmetic Act and the Crimes Code of Pennsylvania occurring in Butler County, Pennsylvania
pursuant o Notice of Submission of Investigation No. 41, do hereby make the following findings

of fact and recommendation of charges.

FINDINGS OF FACT

The Grand Jury conducted an investigation into a criminal organization responsible for the
distribution of heroin/fentany! in and around Butler County. The investigation revealed that from
January 18, 2020 through October 15, 2020, Quinzal Powell (“Powell”) traveled from Philadelphia
to Butler County in order to deliver large quantities of the controlled substances. Powell then
conspired with Desirae Feitl (“Feitl”) and Crystal Pakutz (“Pakutz”) to distribute the drugs to
others. It was determined that Feitl and Pakutz each had their own network of individuals to whom
they sold heroin/fentanyl. During the course of the investigation, it was also determined that when
Feitl was out of the country, Jodi Shirey (“Shirey”) assumed responsibility for Feit’s role in the
organization. Finally, Brandi Zediker (“Zediker”) was found to be involved in thé illegal
distribution of heroin/fentanyl. -

In terms of the quantity of narcotics being trafficked during this time period, a conservative
estimate is that Powell trénsported approximately 1,030 bricks (1,030 grams) of heroin/fentanyl.
A conservative estimate of the heroin/fentany! subsequently sold by Feitl and Pakutz is 256 bricks
(256 grams) and 820 bricks (820 grams), respectively. Investigators also seized in excess of

$244,000,00 in U.S. currency suspected to be associated with the drug trafficking activity.




The Grand Jury heard testimony that members of law enforcement ufilized various
investigative techniques during the course of the investigation including electronic surveillance,
in-person surveillance, cellular telephone communications monitoring/trap and trace number
monitorin;g, and, GPS and cellular tower location tracking, Investigators also listened to recorded
prison telephone calls, executed search wartrants for text message communications, utilized
confidential informants and sources, and conducted traffic stops. With respect to cellular
telephones, the Grand Jury Jearned that Feitl had one telephone that maintained the same number
throughoui the investigation and was generally only usea for conversations with her boyfriend,
Eric Barlow (“Barlow"’), Powell, and others close to her. Her second telephone - - which was
primarily used to conduct her drug transactions - - changed numbers nine times throughout the
course of the investigation. For his part, Powell maintained two telephones and used both for
conversations with Feitl and Pakutz. Both telephones changed mumbers five times during the
course of the investigation. The Grand Jury heard testimony that changing telephone numbers is
common for individuals who are trafficking narcotics in an attempt to conceal their activities from
law enforcement.

Powell to Desirae Feitl and Jodi Shirey

Cellular telephone communications between Feitl and Powell were constant throughout the
course of the investigation, increasing around the dates when Powell was traveling to and/or
present in Butler. Surveillance confirmed many of the meetings. Text messages detailed the
amount of narcotics Powell would be supplying on particular trips; and on one occasion, as noted
below, police stopped Powell’s car and recovered over 1,000 bags of fentany! in a search. The

bags matched those later found in a search of Feitl’s house.




Investigators were able to trace the path of the drugs Powell delivered to Feitl. Records
revealed that Feitl had daily communications with Shirey, Victoria Baptiste (“Baptiste”), Shannon
Winters (“Winters™), Cayla Cygan (“Cygan”), Rachel Barber (“Barber”), Chad Finucan
(“Finucan”) asid others who were not identified. Multiple search warrants were obtained for
Teifl’s text messages and the results revealed thousands of conversations with the aforementioned
individuals concerning the illegal distribution of controlled substances. Most of the text messages
utilized coded language concerning drug trafficking. This included using other words to describe
the drugs, texting only numbers to order a specific number of stamp bags and/or price, and, using
single words to direct the buyers to a meeting location.

Throughout the investigation, members of Jaw enforcement observed Feitl meeting with
Baptiste, Wintets, Shirey, Cygan, Barber and Finucan at various locations throughout Butler.
Some of Feit!’s regular meeting places included the patking lots of the following establishments:
Save-A-Lot; the Clearview Mall; McDonald’s; the Pointe Plaza; and the Greater Butler Mart. At
each of these meetings, Feitl met with the individual for a brief period of time and then both
vehicles left the parking lot. Text message conversations between Feitl and these individuals - -
occurring prior to and after the meetings - - confirmed that they were purchasing controlled
substances from Feitl. The chart below provides the date, 10ca£ion and the name of the individual

with whom Feitl met to sell drugs, as observed by investigators conducting surveillance.

DATE LOCATION INDIVIDUAL
PURCHASING DRUGS
February 2, 2020 Clearview Mall parking lot Shannon Winters
March 19, 2020 McDonald’s parking lot in Victoria Baptiste and
the Greater Butler Mart Shannon Winters
March 25, 2020 Save-A-Lot parking lot at Rachel Barber and Shannon
Pullman Square Winters




April 21, 2020 Save-A-Lot parking lot in Billy Abrams
Pullman Square
April 27,2020 Clearview Mall Jodi Shirey and Shannon
Winters
April 28, 2020 Point Plaza parking lot Chad Finucan
April 28, 2020 Rite Aid parking Jot Shannon Winters
May 13, 2020 Save-A-Lot parking lot at Shannon Winters
Pullman Square
May 13, 2020 Hillvue Self Storage Jodi Shirey
June 4, 2020 Intersection of Eau Claire ' Cayla Cygan
Street and Fifth Street
September 11, 2020 Save-A-Lot parking lot in Jodi Shirey
: Pullman Square

The Grand Jury heard evidence that Baptiste had been purchasing heroin/fentanyl from
Feitl on a daily basis for approximately two to three years. She was buying 10 to 20 bags per day.
Baptiste testified that she would text Feitl the number of bags that she wanted and then wait for
Feitl to send her a message regarding the meeting location. Baptiste stated that she routinely met
Feitl st the Save-A-lot or McDonald’s where the two would complete the transaction in the parking
lot.

The Grand Jury also heard testimony that Cygan began purchasing heroin/fentany] from
Feitl in March or April 2020 and that she continued to purchase from her until sometime in
September of that year, Cygan stated that she purchased anywhere from 10 stamp bags to two
bricks! from Feitl on a daily basis. She would often meet Feitl at the Save-A-Lot or McDonald’s

where the two would complete the transaction in the parking lot.

' The Grand Jury learned that there are typically ten bags of heroin/fentanyl in a bundle and five
bundles in a brick. A brick usually weighs one to one and a half grams.




The Grand Jury learned that Winters began purchasing heroin/fentanyl from Feitl, on a
daily basis, sometime in May 2019. Winters purchased one or two bundles per day, occasionally
buying a brick. Winters met with Feitl at the Clearview Mall, Walmart, Greater Butler Mart and
other locations and they would complete the transaciion in the patking lot.

On October 2, 2019, a search warrant was execuied at Barlow’s residence in McKeesport,
Allegheny County where 150 bricks of heroin were seized. Barlow was arrested and then
transferred to the Butler County Prison on a detainer. On November 15, 2019 at 10:54 am.,
Barlow placed a recorded call to Feit! from the prison. During the call, Feitl told Barlow that she
was “pissed.” She explained that she heard a garbage truck outside of her residence at 2:45 am.,
woke up, and assumed it was the police coming to her house. Feitl stated to Barlow, "/ think you
already know what happened . . . ahh, bunch of shit went down the toilel.” Feitl then claborated
by stating, “7 just ﬁ} *ing, 1 just lost a bunch of money . . . 1 just fir¥ked myself for real” meaning
that she had flushed the controlled substances that she had prepared to sell.

On November 18, 2019, in another recorded call between Feitl and Barlow, the two
discussed a search warrant that was executed at a residence in Butler that day where Shirey was
present. Feitl told Barlow that “Jodi got the car impounded with my God damn money in it”,

On February 2, 2020, in another recorded call to Barlow, Feitl stated, “The fu*king
township cops are driving around . . . now I can’( leave. This is real fi*king stressful, this is
making me real sick to my stomach right now. He's definitely watching. Ican't be on the phone
right now and deal with this shit.”

On March 20, 2020, during a recorded call between Feitl and Barlbw, Feitl was heard
talking to a female in the background. Feitl stated, “What the fi*k do I look like, a mother fus *king

gas station, go get cash.” Feitl then explained to Barlow that “the bitch tried to pay me with a




lottery ticket.” Prior to this meeting, there were six calls and/or text messages between Feit} and
Barber, Following Feitl’s directive to “go get cash,” there were an additional three calls and/or
text messages between Feitl and Barber.

On March 8, 2020, Feitl flew from Pittsburgh to Miami and thereafter boarded a cruise
ship. Through GPS tracking, ft was confirmed that she was out of the country until March 15, 2020
when she arrived in Miami and flew baclk to Pittsburgh. While Feitl was out of the country, Shirey
was in charge of handling Feitl’s “business.” Through a review of text messages and use of video
surveillance, it was determined that Shirey conununicated with at least two of Feitl’s customers -
- Winters and Baptiste - - and subsequently sold heroin/fentany] to them. Both Winters and
Baptiste were instructed by Feit] to contact Shirey in order to purchase the narcotics. Text messages
and video surveillance revealed that Winters purchased heroin/fentanyl from Shirey on at least six
occasions for a total of 10 bundles or 100 stamps bags. Baptiste also purchased drugs from Shirey
on at least two occasions while Feitl was away.

On May 9, 2020, members of the Butler City Police Department arrested Winters for
driving under the influence and recovered 15 full stamp bags and five empty stamp bags. Winters
told the officers that she had purchased the drugs from “Dez” (Feitl). The drugs were subsequently
submitted to the Pennsylvania State Police Greensburg Regional Laboratory (“PSP Laboratory™)
for analysis. The results revealed the presence of heroin, a schedule I controlled substance, and
fentanyl, a schedule II controlled substance. Text messagés between Feitl and Winters prior to her
traffic stop conﬁﬁned that Winters had, in fact, ordered 20 stamp bags from Feitl.

On July 28, 2020, officers were conducting surveillance in the parking lot at the Greater
Butler Mart in Butler Township when they observed Winters driving up and down the lanes of

parked vehicles very slowly. Winters appeared to be checking for the presence of surveillance/law




enforcement. She then parked on the north end of the lot, two rows south of the McDonald’s. Feitl
then drove into the parking lot, stopping adjacent to Winter's vehicle, Winters proceeded to get
out of her vehicle and go to the passenger side window of Feitl's vehicle. Winters then reached in
and made an exchange with Feitl. Winters returned to her vehicle and Feitl left the lot. Next,
Winters moved her vehicle and parked beside the McDonald’s. When she got out of her vehicle,
she was approached by the officers. Upon seeing them, she held out two bundles of heroin/fentanyl
and stated, "She just rolled up on me and gave me these." The drugs were submitled to the PSP
Laboratory and tested positive for heroin and fentanyl. Leading up fo this purchase, there were
seven text messages and/or calls between Feitl and Winters,

On October 15, 2020, a traffic stop was initiated on Renaissance Drive in Butler County.
Powell was identified as the sole occupant of the vehicle. A search of the vehicle revealed two
knotted baggies containing a combined tétal of approximately 1,149 stamp bags. The drugs were
submitted to the PSP Laboratory and tested positive for fentanyl, weighing 24.6 grams.

On October 15, 2020, Feitl was taken into custody on existing warrants while operating
her 2011 GMC Terrain. Seven bundles of suspected heroin and/or fentanyl were recovered from
her person. The 66 stamp bags were submitted to the PSP Laboratory where testing revealed the
- presence of 1.6 grams of fentanyl. A warrant was thereafter obtained to search the 2011 GMC
Terrain. A search of that vehicle resulted in the seizure of the following: $533.00 in U.S. currency;
Nine deposit slips between the dates of March 16, 2020 and October 13, 2020 totaling $13,332.00
for First National Bank Account # 95044008; a Huntington Bank debit card in the nalﬁe of Feitl;
and, a US Bank debit card in the name of Feitl.

Following Feitl’s arrest, a search warrant was also executed at her residence in Butler.

Investigatoi's seized of 1,121 stamp bags of suspected heroin/fentanyl, $10,220.00 in U.S. currency




and other drug-related items. The stamp bags were submitted to the PSP Laboratory where testing
confirmed the presence of 27.4 grams of fentanyl,

Search warrants were also executed at two of Feitl’s storage facilities at Hillvue Storage in
Butler: D. Up 7 and B-6. The search conducted at D. Up 7 resulted in the seizure of a black safe
that contained approximately $234,000.00 in U.S. currency, the majority of which consisted of
$100.00 bills.

Narcotics Agent Dougtas Brink ("NA Bl‘iﬁk”) of the Pennsylvania Office of Attorney
General informed the Grand Jury that he spoke with a representatives at Dollar Bank who advised
that Feitl’s account had been flagged and subsequently closed due to concerns about money
laundering. They stated that Feit] routinely brought in small dollar bills and asked that they be
converted into $100.00 bills,

Powell to Crystal Pakutz fo Brandi Zediker

Pakutz appeared -before the Grand Jury and testified that she began purchasing
heroin/fentanyl from Powell, whom she knows as “Slim,” in March or April 2020. Pakutz stated
that she was broke at the time and decided to “work” for him by selling heroin.

Pakutz testified that for the first few weeks, she was purchasing two bricks (100 stamp
bags) each time when Powell came to town. After that, she began purchasing 20 to 30 bricks per
trip, and, sometime in June or July, she began purchasing 20 to 30 grams of heroinffentényl in a
single day. She stated that Powell had also provided her witha large quantity of empty stamp bags
during one of his trips. Pakutz told the Grand Jury that she lived at the Holiday Inn Express in
Butler for approximately one and one-half months prior to her atrest on October 1, 2020. Powell
would stay at the hotel when he was in town. She advised that sometimes he would stay in his

own room and other times he would stay with her in her room.




Pakutz advised that she sold the heroin/fentanyl that she purchased from Powell to various
other individuals on a regular basis. According to Pakutz, she had three chients who purchased
from her on a daily basis: Brandi Zediker (“Zediker”), Destiny Stemmerich (“Stemmerich”) and
Clyistian Manny (“Manny”). Zediker purchased five grams per day, every day, from March or
April until sometime in July or August when she began purchasing five grams every other day
until October. ‘In July or August, Pakutz advised that she also began selling to Stemmerich and
Manny. She stated that they each purchased one or two bricks, every day or every other day.
Pakutz stated that she also sold to other individuals, but not as regularly as she sold to Zediker,
Stermmerich and Manny. Pakutz advised that she would sometimes “front” these three individuals
the controlled substances. She explained that afier she began purchasing drugs from Powell in
grams rather than stamp bags, she would provide empty stamp bags with the heroin/fentany! to
Zediker, Stemmerich and Manny, They would then re-package it, sell it and bring Pakutz the
money that they owed to her. Pakufz also ‘told the Grand Jury that, on occasion, Powell had
provided her with illegal drugs - - other than heroin/fentanyl - - to sell.

The Grand Jury learned that a review of telephone records and text messages confirmed
that Pakutz and Powell communicated on a regular basis and that Pakutz frequently communicated
with Zediker, Stemmerich and Manny. Pakutz also communicated with multiple other individuals,
discussing the distribution of controlled substances,

On July 6, 2020, officers met with a confidential informant (“CI”) in order to conduct a
controlled purchase of two bundles of heroin from Zediker. The CI was searched prior to the
purchase and found to be free of controlled substances, money and weapons. The CI contacted
Zediker via telephone and arranged to meet at her (Zediker’s) residence. The CI was followed to

the residence and was under constant surveillance until entry into the home. A short time later,




the CI left the residence and returned to officers where he/she turned over 20 stamp bags, advising
that he/she had purchased the heroin from Zediker. The CI stated that Zediker had retrieved a
larger bag of heroin from her bedroom and bagged the individual stamp bags in the presence of
the CI. The drugs were subsequently submitted to the PSP Laboratory where testing revealed the
presence of less than T gram of fentanyl, or, approximately .019 grams of fentanyl per bag.

The Grand Jury learned that on September 10, 2020, Detective Timothy Fennell of the
Butler County District Attorney’s Office was conducting surveillance of Powell at the Holiday Inn
Express when he observed Lorraine Zediker (“I, Zediker™), a known heroin user, arrive at the rear
of the hotel. Pakutz exited the hotel and met with L. Zediker for a brief period of time, Both of
them then departed in L. Zediker’s Jeep Cherokee. Pakutz was observed coming and going from
the hotel several times on Septemﬁer 10 and 11, 2020.

A review of text messages from Pakutz’s mobile telephone revealed that from September
9 through 11, 2020, Pakutz delivered heroi_n/fentanyl, crack cocaine and. methamphetamine to at
least 10 different people. The quantitics varied by person from a “bun” (10 stamp bags), a “whole,”
a “brick” or a “breezy” (50 stamp b;dgs) to multiple grams of heroin/fentanyl. At one point during
these conversations Pakutz told multiple customers that “My Ppls is here at the Telly(Hotel) wit
me & they have some light brown shyl; but IDK how it is. They actually wani me fo have my Ppl
try it.” The text messages intercepted indicated that Zediker arranged to trade “23 20's " (pills)
with Pakutz for a “whole one, ” meaning a brick of heroin/fentanyl, on September 10, 2020 as was
observed through surveillance.

On October 1, 2020, Palcufz was detained and placed in the Butler County Prison on a
bench warrant from Allegheny County. At 11:31 a.m., Pakutz placed a recorded telephone call to

her mother. During this call, she instructed her mother to go to the room and get the light pink

10




book bag. At the end of the call, Pakutz stated: “Make sure you get everything out of that room

especially that book bag ASAP.”

Officers contacted management at the Holiday Inn Express and confirmed that Pakutz had
been staying in Room 206. Surveillance video from the rear of the hotel also confirmed that Pakutz
stayed there on the night of September 30, 2020 into October 1, 2020, A search warrant was
subseduentiy executed on Room 206 and a bag of suspected fentanyl, a scale, empty stamp bags
and other packaging materials wete recovered. The drugs were submitted to the PSP Laboratory
where testing revealed the presence of 8.67 grains of fentanyl.

Altogether, Powell made at least 33 trips from Philadelphia to Butler, between January 18,
2020 and October 15, 2020, to deliver illegal drugs to Feitl and Pakutz. The dates of Powell’s trips
are as follows:
¢ January 18— 19, 2020
e January 25 - 26, 2020
¢ February 1 -4, 2020
¢ February 13 — 14, 2020
e February 22-23, 2020
e February 28 — March 2, 2020
e March 7-11, 2020
¢+ March 15 -16, 2020
o March 20 — 21, 2020
e March 25 -26, 2020
o April 1 —2,2020

o April 6 -8,2020
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April 9-12, 2020
April 14 -17, 2020
April 21 - 23, 2020
May 2 — 5, 2020
May 9 — 10, 2020
May 14 — 16, 2020
May 20-22, 2020
May 25 -27, 2020
May 30 — June 1, 2020
June 4-6, 2020
& June 12 — 14, 2020
Juné 26 —28, 2020
July 5-6, 2020
July 13 - 14, 2020
July 26 — 28, 2020
August 2, 2020 (round trip in one day)
August 9, 2020 (round trip in one day)
August 23 —25; 2020
September 9-11, 2020
September 16 — 18, 2020
September 30, 2020 (round trip all in one day)

QOctober 15, 2020

12




NA Brink informed the Grand Jury that he was able to estimate the quantities of
heroin/fentanyl that Powell, Feitl and Palcutz were selling during the course of investigation based
upon witness interviews, narcotics seizures and text message conversations. From January 18,
2020 through October 15, 2020, he estimated that, on the conservative end, Powell transported
approximately 1,030 bricks (1,030 grams) of heroin/fentanyl from Philadelphia to Butler County
for Feitl and Pakutz. From January 18, 2020 through October 15, 2020, he estimated that, on the
conservative end, Feitl sold approximately 256 bricks (256 grams) of heroin/fentanyl and that

Pakutz sold approximately 820 bricks (820 grams) of heroin/fentany] from April 1, 2020 through

Qctober 1, 2020.
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT
COUNTY OF:BUTLER ( {2 LS COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
Magisterial District Number: 50-5- 03 st VS.
MDWJ: Hon. William T. Fullerton ; DEFENDANT (NAME and ADDRESS):
Address: 227 West Cunningham Street CRYSTAL RACHELLE PAKUTZ
Butl er, PA 16003-1208 First Name Middle Name Last Name Gen
455b Chicora Rd
Telephone: {724)431-4854 * Butler, PA 16001
' NCIC Extradition Gode Type .
1-Felony Full [[] 5-Felony Pending Extradition ¢ MlsdemeanorSarround:ng States [ Distance:
[ 2-Felony Limited [] 6-Felony Pending Extradition Determ. [T D-Misdemeanor No Extradition
[C] 3-Felony Surrounding States [ A-Misdemeanor Ful? O E-Misdemeanar Pending Extradition
] 4-Felony No Exiradition [] B-Misdemeanor Limited [ F-Misdemeanor Pending Extradition
DEFENDANT IDENTIFICATION INFORMATION
cket Number E) te Filed ?Z /LiveScan Number Complaint/incident Number Request Lab Services?
Te. A2 7/7%/ D\ e ol BN6005117CP D1 ves [INO
GENDER" DOB 12/23/1992 | POB | Addioos [ [ Co-Defendant(s) L[]
] Male First Name ' Middle Name Last Name Gen.
Female AKA
RACE ] White [ Asian [ 1 8lack Nalive American ~ [ Unknown
ETHNICITY [_] Hispanic Mon-Hispanic [ 1 Unknown
) [ GRY (Gray) ["1 RED {RedfAubn.) [1 sDY (Sandy) [1BLU (Blue) 1 PLE (Purple) {1 BRO (Brown)
gz'lgr ] BLK (Black) [] ONG (Orange) ] WHI (White) [ XXX (UnkJBaid) [ GRN (Green) [ PNK (Pink)
BLN (Blonde / Strawberry) )
Eye []1 BLK (Black) I BLU (Blue) [1 BRO {Brown) Xl GRN (Green) [ GRY (Gray)
Color  [[1HAZ (Hazel) (] MAR (Maraon) [] PN (Pink) [ MUL (Multicolorad) {71 XXX (Unknown)
DNA [1YES L1NO | DNA Location WEIGHT (Ibs.)
FBI Number | MNU Number 235
Defendant Fingerprinted l 1 ves [ nNO Ft. HEIGHT In.
Fingerprint Classification: | 5 | 8
DEFENDANT VEHICLE INFORMATION
State | Haz Registration Comm’l Veh. School Veh. [ | Oth. NCIC Veh. Code Reg.
Plate # mDat Sticker (MMIYY) /] Ind. [ same as
VIN Year Wake Model Style Color |

Office of the attorney for the Commonwealth & Approved [ Disapproved because:

(The attorney for the Commonwealth may require that the compiamt arrest warrant affidavit, or both be approved by the atiorney for the Commonweaith prior to
filing. See Pa.R.Crim.P. 507}

{Name of the aftorney for the Commonwealth} {Signature of the atlorney for the Commonweatth) / (/D ate)
._.DOUGLAS C. BRINK/TIMOTHY FENNELL 338/4179
{Name of the Affiant) ' (PSP/MPOETC -Assigned Affiant ID Number & Badge #

of___ Pennsylvania Office of Attorney General _ PA0222400

(Identify Department or Agency Represented and Political Subdivision) (Police Agency ORI Number)
do hereby state; (check appropriate box)
1. & | accuse the above named defendant who lives at the address set forth above

O I accuse the defendant whose name is unknown to me but who is described as

{1 | accuse the defendant whose name and popular designation or nickname are unknown to me and whom | have

therefore designated as John Doe or Jane Doe

with violating the penal laws of the Commenwealth of Pennsylvania at [301] City Of Butler
(subdivision Lode) {FTa<e-Fonlical SundiAsion]

in BUTLER County [10] on or about JANUARY 18, 2020 THRU OCTOBER 15, 2020
(County Code)
AOPC 412A — Rev. 7/18 Page 1 of __




54 POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Docket Number: __ Date Filed: . OTN/LiveScan Number Complaintfincident Number
[T AL W) | D220 BN6005117CP
) N Fidt” & 7 Middle: ! Last;
Defendant Name: CRYSTAL RACHELLE PAKUTZ

The acts committed by the accused are described below with each Act of Assembly or statute allegedly violated, if appropriate.

When there is more than one offense, each offense should be humbered chronologically.

{Set forth a brief summary of the facts sufficient to advise the defendant of the nature of the offense(s) charged, A citation to the statute(s) allegedly violated,
without more, is not sufficient. In a summary case, you must cite the speclfic section(s) and subsection(s) of the statute(s) or ordinance(s} allegediy violated.
The age of the victim at the time of the offense may he included if known, In addition, social security numbers and financial information (e.g. PINs) should not
be listed. If the identity of an account must be established, list only the last four digits. 204 PA.Code §§ 213.1 - 213.7.} )

Inchoate | [[] Attempt [T Solicitation [[1 Conspiracy Nurnber of Victims Age 60 or Older
Offense 18901 A 18902 A 18903 :
O |1 911 b3 ‘ofthe | TITLE 18 1 F1
Leagy ~ OTense Seation Subsection PAStalute (Tille)  Counts Grage  NCICDffense UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data .
(if applicable) Accident Number [ Interstate [J Safety Zone [] Work Zone

Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance): CORRUPT ORGANIZATION-EMPLOYEE:

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense; In that, between January 18, 2020 and October 15, 2020, the DEFENDANT, while employed by or
assaciated with an enterprise did conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprises’ affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity
as defined in 18 Pa.C.5.A. 911(h)(1). To Wit: the DEFENDANT did commit, cause to be committed, promote or facifitate the commission, aid ar agree to aid
anather in the planning or commission, and/ar conspire to commit two or more of the criminal offenses defined in 18 Pa.C.S.A. 911(h)(1), all of which is in

violation of Section 911({b}(3) of the PA Crimes Code,

Inchoate [C] Attempt [ Soticitation [l Conspiracy Number of Victims Age 60 or Older
Offense 18901 A 18902 A 18 903
O |2 911 b4 ofthe | TITLE 18 1 F1
Lead? Offenset Section Subseclion PA Statule {Title) Counts Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data Accldent
(if applicable) NUMbEr [0 interstate [[] Safety Zone [ Work Zone

Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance): CORRUPT ORGANIZATON- CONSPIRACY TO VIOLATE 911 B1, 911 B2
OR 911 B3;

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that, between January 18, 2020 and October 15, 2020, the DEFENDANT did agree with one or
more persens that they, or one or mare of them, would engage in conduct which constitutes a violation of 18 Pa.C.5.A 911(b)(1), (Z) or (3}, that Is, the
DEFENDANT did conspire and agree with Quinzal Powell, Desirae Feitl, Jodi Shirey and/or others known and unknown that they, or one or more of them, would
conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, while employed by or assoclated with an enterpise In the conduct of such enterprises’ affairs through a pattern of
racketeering activity as defined in 18 Pa.C.5.A. 911(h)(1). To Wit: The DEFENDANT did consplre to commit two or miore of the criminal offenses defined in 18
Pa.C.5.A. 011(h)(1), all of which is in violation of Section 911(b)(4) of the PA Crimes Code.)

Inchoate [ Attempt {1 saolicitation [] Conspiracy Number of Victims Age 60 or Older
Offense 189071 A 18902 A 18 903
O |3 780-113 a(30) TITLE 35 1 F
Lead? Offense# Saection Subsection PA Siatute (Tille} Caunts Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data Accident
(if applicable) Number [l interstate [ Safety Zone . .} Work Zone

Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance). DELIVERY OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE: THE CONTROLLED
SUBSTANCE, DRUG, DEVICE AND COSMETICS ACT, ACT 64 SECTION 13(A), CLAUSE 30(A) FELONY:

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that the above named Defendant fram January 18, 2020 through October 15, 2020,
knowingly, intentionally and unlawfully delivered fentanyl/heroin (Scheduled II/I) and the Defendant was not then and there licensed or registered as required
by the Act of the Assembly of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, in violation of Section 780-113 (a){(30) of the PA Controlled Substance, Drug, Device and

Cosmetics Act (F) .

AOPC 412A—Rev.7/18  Page__of _
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2% POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

DooketN mbgr Date File — OTN/LiveScan,Number Complaint/incident Number
T Vai AR /3\ V/ |94 7DA "*i--'f BN6005117CP

b f d tN First Middle: Last;

etendant Fame CRYSTAL RACHELLE PAKUTZ

The acts committed by the accused are described below with each Act of Assembly or statute allegedly violated, if

appropriate. When there is more than one offense, each offense should be numbered chronologically.

{Set forth a brief summary of the facts sufficient to advise the defendant of the nature of the offense(s) charged. A citation to the statute(s) allegedly
violated, without more, is not sufficient. In a summary case, you must cite the specific section(s}) and subsection(s) of the statute{s} or ordinance(s)
allegedly violated. The age of the victim at the time of the offense may be included if known. In addition, social security numhers and financial Information
{e.g. PINs) shouid not be Hsted. If the identity of an account must be established, list only the last four digits. 204 PA.Code §§ 213.1 - 213.7.)

Inchoate | ] Attempt [ solicitation 1 Conspiracy
Offense 18901 A 18902 A 18 803
O |4 780-113 A(30)  |ofthe | TITLE 35 1 F
Lead?  Offense# Saction Subsection PA Stalute (Title) Counts Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data Accident
(if applicable) Number {1 Interstate 7 Safety Zone [1 Work Zone

Statute Description {include the name of statute or ordinance): POSSESSION WITH INTENT TO DELIVER A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE: THE
CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE, DRUG, DEVICE AND COSMETICS ACT, ACT 64 SECTION 13(A), CLAUSE 30(A) FELONY:

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that the above named Defendant did on or about October 1, 2020, knowingly, intentionally
and unlawfully possessed with the intent to deliver fentanyl (Scheduled II) and the Defendant was not then and there licensed or registered as required by
the Act of the Assembly of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, in violaticn of Section 780-113 (a)(30) of the PA Controfled Substance, Drug, Device and

Cosmetics Act (F)

inchoate | [] Attempt [ Solicitation [T Gonspiracy

Offense 18901 A 18902 A 18903

O !5 7512 A ofthe | TITLE 18 | 1 F3
Lead?  Offense# Seclion Subsection PA Statute (Tille) Counts Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data Accident [ Interstate [] safety Zone £ Work Zone

{if applicable) Number
Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance): CRIMINAL USE OF A COMMUNICATION FACILITY- COMMISSION OF A FEL:

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that the above named Defendant, batween January 18, 2020 and October 15, 2020, did
utilize a communication facility to commit, cause or facilitate the deivery of heroin/fentanyl, a Schedule I/II Controlfed Substance in violation of Section

7512(a) of the PA Crimes Code

Inchoate Attempt [ Solicitation ] Conspiracy
Offense 18901 A 18902 A 18 903
O |6 903 A(1) ofthe | TITLE18 |1 F
Lead?  Offense# Section Subsection PA Slatute (Tiile) Counts Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data Acaidant [ Interstate [[1 safety Zane {71 Work Zone

{if applicable) Number
Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance): CRIMINAL CONSPIRACY-ENGANGING:

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that, between January 18, 2020 and October 15, 2020, the DEFENDANT, with the intent of
promoting or facilitating the crimes of Delivery of a Controlled Substance and/or Possession with Intent to Deliver a Conltrolled Substance, did conspire and
agree with Quinzal Powell, Brandi Zediker and/or others known and unknown that they or one or more of them would engage in conduct constituting such
crime or an attemgt or solicitation to commit such crime, in violation of Section 903(a)(1) of the PA Crimes Code. ‘
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#2% POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Docket Number: Date Filed: . gQTNIleeScan Number Complaintfiincident Number
ol | gyl R RZ A5 BN60O5117CP
f dant Name: ' First: Middle: ' tast:
Defendant Name: CRYSTAL RACHELLE PAKUTZ

2. | ask that a warrant of arrest or a summons be issued and that the defendant be required to answer the charges | have
made.

3. tverify that the facts set forth in this complaint are true and correct to the hest of my knowledge or information and
belief. This verification is made subject to the penalties of Section 4904 of the Crimes Code (18 Pa.C.S. § 4804) relating

to unsworn falsification to authorities.

4. This complaint consists of the preceding page(s) numbered 1 through __

5. [ cetify that this filing complies with the provisions of the Case Records Public Access Policy of the Unified Judicial
System of Pennsylvania that require filing confidential information and documents differently that non-confidential

information and documents.

The acts committed by the accused, as listed and hereafter, were against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth
of Pennsylvania and were contrary to the Act(s) of the Assembly, or in violation of the statutes cited. . . -~

(Before a warrant of arrest can be issued, an affidavit of probable cause must be completed sworn to’before the
issuing authority, and attached.) _ “ AT
ol / "‘,- ” [ i e /

o // S "
APRIL 28,2021 L /; G e
{Date) (Signature of Affiant)

AND NOW, on this date 7 (gf’d;w 2 00 | certify that the complaint has been properly completed and verified.

An affidavit of probable cause must be completed before a warrant can be issued.

1270 o
I e e

(Magisterial District Court Number) (Issu:ng Authority)

GEAL

AGPC 417A — Rev. 7/18 |  Page_of _




AFFIDAVIT

Douglas Brink, Narcotics Agent, of the Pennsylvania Office of Attorney General, Bureau of
Criminal Investigations assigned to thé Bureau of Narcotics Investigations and Timothy Fennell,
Chief County Detective, Butler Coun‘ty District Attorney's Drug Task Force being duly sworn
according to law, depose and say:

Your Affiants are empowered by law to conduct investigations of and to make arrests for
offenses involving violations of the Pennsylvania Crirﬁes Code.

On April 13, 2021, the Forty-Sixth Statewide Investigating Grand Jury issued Presentment
No. 14, recommending that criminal charges be filed against Crystal Pakutz for violations of the
Pennsylvania Crimes Code. The aforementioned Presentment was accepted by the Honorable
Anthony M. Mariani, Supervising Judge of the Forty-Fifth Statewide Investigating Grand Jury, by
Order dated April 14, 2021. A copy of the Presentment and the Order accepting the Presentment is
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.

Having read and reviewed the Presentment, and after having participated in this investigation
and considering all the facts and circumstances, your Affiants are adopting the Presentment and
incorporating it fully into this Affidavit of Probable Cause. Your Affiants aver that the testimony of
the individuals who appeared before the Forty-Sixth Statewide Investigating Grand Jury is consistent
with the information contained within Presentment No.14 and the information developed within the
course of the investigation specified herein. Furthermore, Presentment No. 14 shows on its face that
it is based upon evidence which the Forty-Sixth Statewide Investigating Grand Jury reviewed and

evaluated which included sworn testimony of witnesses appearing before it and physical evidence

presented to it.




Your Affiants have reviewed the evidence presented before the Forty-Sixth Statewide

Investigating Grand Jury and find that it comports with the findings of the investigation.

SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED
BEFORE ME THIS 75 DAY

OF April , 2021

(=l

Douglas Brink
Narcotics Agent

r///’ /;7_, /. T

Timothy Fennell
Chief County Detective




INTRODUCTION

We, the members of the Forty-Sixth Statewide Investigating Grand Jury, having received
and reviewed evidence pertaining to violations of the Controlled Substances, Diug, Device and
Cosmetic Act and the Crimes Code of Pehnsylvania occuiring in Butler County, Pennsylvania
pursuant to Notice of Submission of In;festigaﬁon No. 41, do hereby make the following findings
of fact and recommendation of c‘harge“s;

FINDINGS OF FACT

The Grand Jury condueted an in:ves,tigation into a criminal organization responsible for the
distribution of heroin/fentanyl in and around Butler County. The investigation revealed that from
January 18, 2020 through October 15, 2020, Quinzal Powell (“Powell”) traveled from Philadelphia
fo Butler County in order to deliver large quantities of the controlled substances. Powell then
conspired with Desirae Feitl (“Feitl”) and Crystal Pakutz (“Pakutz”) to distribufe the diugs to
others. Tt was determined that Feitl and Pakutz each had their own network of individuals to whom
they sold heroln/fentanyl. Duririg the couise of the investigation, it was also d,ete‘fmined that when
Feitl was out of the country, Jodi Shirey (“Shirey™) assumed responsibility for Feitl’s role in the
organization. Finally, Brandi Zediker (“Zediker”) was found to be involved in the illegal
distribution of heroin/{fentanyl.

In terms of the quantity of narcotics being trafficked during this time period, a conseivative
estimate is that Powell fransported approx,l:mately 1,030 bricks (1,030 grams) of heroin/fentanyl.
A conservativeestimate of the heroin/fentanyl subsequently sold by Feit! and Pakuitz is 256 bricks
(255 grams) and 820 bricks (820 grams), respectively. Investigators also seized in excess of

$244,000.00 in U.S. curreney suspected to be associated with the drug trafficking activity.




The Grand Jury heard testimony that members of law enforcement utilized vatious
inivestigative techniques during the coutse of the investigation including electronic surveillance,
in-person surveillance, cellular telephone communications monitoritig/trap and trace number
monitoring, and, GPS and cellular tower location fracking. Investigators also listeried to tecorded
prison telephone calls, executed search warrants for text message comumunications, utilized
confidential informants and sources, and conducted traffic stops. With respect to cellular
telephones, the Grand Jury leatned that Feitl had one telephone that maintained the same number
throughout the investigation and was generally only used for conversations with her boyfriend,
Eric Barlow (“Barlow™), Powell, and others close to her. Her second telephone - - which was
primarily used to conduct her drug transactions - - changed numbers nine times throughout the
course of the investigation. For his part, Powell maintained two telephonés and used both foi
conversations with Feitl and Pakutz. Both telephones changed numbers five times during the
course of the investigation, The Grand Jury heard testimony that changing telephone numbers is
comimon for individuals who are trafficking narcotics in an attempt to conceal their activities from
law enforcement.

Powell to Desirae Feirl and Jodi Shirey

Cellulat telephione communications between Feitl and Powell were constant throughout the
cowse of the investigation, increasing around the dates when Powell was traveling to and/or
preserit in Butler, Surveillance confirmed many of the mestings. - Text messages detailed the
amount of narcotics Powell would be supplying on part_icﬁlar trips; and on one occasion, as noted
below, police stopped Powell’s car and recovered over 1,000 bags of feitanyl in a seatch. The

bags matched those later found in a search of Feitl’s house.




Investigators were able to trace the path of the drugs Powell délivered to Feitl, Records
revealed that Feifl had daily communications with Shirey, Victoria Baptiste (“Baptiste”), Shannon
Winters (“Winters”), Cayla Cygan (“Cygan”), Rachel Barber (“Barber”), Chad Finucan
(“Finucan”) and others who were not identified. Multiple search wartants were obtained for

Feitl’s text messages and the results revealed thousands oFconversations with the aforementioned

individuals concerning the illegal distribution of controlled substances. Most of the text messages.

utilized coded language concerning drug trafficking. This included using other words fo describe
the drugs, texting.only nuinbers to order a specific number of starmp bags and/for price, and, using
single words to direct the buyers to a meeting location.

Throughout the investigation, members of law enforcement observed Feit] meeting with
Baptiste, Winteré, Shirey, Cygan, Barber and Finucan at various locations. throughout Butler.
Some of Feitl’s regular meeting places included the parking lots of the following establishments:
Save-A-Lot; the Clearview Mall; McDonald’s; the Pointe Plaza; and the Greater Butler Mart. At
each of these meetings, Feitl met with the individual for a brief period of time and then both
vchicles left the parking lot. Text message conversations between Feitl and these individuals - -
ocourring prior to and after the meetings - - confirmed that they were purchasing controlled
substances from Feitl. The chatt below provides the date, location and the name of the individual

with whom Feitl met to sell drugs, as abserved by investigators conducting surveillance,

DATE ~ LOCATION " INDIVIDUAL
| | PURCHASING DRUGS
Febiuary 2, 2020 Clemview Mall parking lot Shannion Winters
March 19, 2020 McDonald*s parking Tot in Victoria Baptiste and
the Greater Butler Mart Shannon Winfers
March 25, 2020 ' Save-A-Lot paiking 'iot at Rachel Barber and Shannon
Pillman Square Winfers




April 21, 2020 Save-A-Lot parking lot in " Billy Abrams
_ Pullman Square L L
April 27, 2020 ' Clearview Mall Jodi Shirey and Shannon
, Winters
April 28, 2020 Point Plaza parking lot Chad Finucan
April 28, 2020 Rite Aid parking lot  Shannon Winters
May 13, 2020 Save-A-Lot paiking lot at Shanhon Winters
Pullman Square
May 13,2020 Hillvue Self Storage Jodi Shirey
June 4, 2020 Tntersection of Eau Claire Cayla Cygan
Street atid Fifth Stiget
September 11,2020 Savé-A-Lot parking lot in Jodi Shirey
Pullinan Squate '

The Grand Jury heard evidence that Baptiste had been purchasing hel‘éin/fentanyl from
Feitl on a daily basis for approximately two to three years. She was buying 10 to 20 bags per day.
Baptiste testified that she would text Feitl the number of bags that she wanted and then wait for
Feitl to send her a message regarding the meeting location. Baptiste stated that she routinely met
Feitl at the Save-A-lot or MeDonald’s where the two would complete the fransaction in the parking
lot.

The Grand Juty also heard testimony that Cygan began purchasing heroin/fentanyl from
Feifl in March or April 2020 and that she continued to purchase from her until sometime in
September of that year. Cygdn stated that she purchased anywherte fiom 10 stamp bags to two
brické‘ from TFeitl on a daily basis. She would often meet Feitl at the Save-A-Lot or MecDonald’s

where the fwo would co‘mpiete the transaction in the parking lot.

! The Grand Jury learned that there are typically ten bags of heroin/fentanyl in a bundlé and five
‘bundles in a brick. A brick usually weighs one to one and a half gratns,




The Grand Jury learned that Winters began purthasing heroif/fentariyl from Feitl, on a
daily basis, sometime in May 2019. Winters purchased one or two bundles per day, occasionally
buying a brick. Winters met with Feitl at the Clearview Mall, Walmart, Greater Butler Mart and
other locations and they would complete the transaction in the patking lot.

On Oetober 2, 2019, a search warrant was executed at Barlow's residence in McKeesport,
Allegheny County where 150 bricks of heroin wete seized. Barlow was arrested and then
transferied to the Butler County Prison on a detainer. On November 15, 2019 at 10:54 am,,
Barlow placed a recorded call to Feitl from the prison. During the call; Feitl told Barlow that she
was “pissed.” She explained that she heard a garbage truck outside of her residence at 2;:45 am.,
walke up, arid assumed it was the poli_ce‘coming to her house. Feitl stated to Barlow, “I think you
alreacly know what happened . . . ahh, bunch of shit went down the. toilet.” Feitl then elaborated
by stating, “Zjust fikking, I just lost a bunch of money . . . Ijust firked myself. for real” meaning
that she had flushed the controlled substances that she had prepared to sell,

On November 18, 2019, in another recorded call between Feitl and Batlow, the two
discussed a search watrant that Was_ executed at a residence in Butler that day where Shirey was
present. Feitl told Barlow that “Jodi got the car impounded with my God damn money in it”.

On February 2, 2020, in another recorded call to Barlow, Feitl stated, “The firtking
tovimship cops are driving around . . . now I can’t leave. This is real fi*king Sﬁ’(i;SSﬁII, this is
making me real sick fo my .s;rornacfh right now. He's definitely watching. I'can’t be on the phone
right now and deal with this shit.”

On March 20, 2020, during a recorded call between Feitf and Barlow, Feitl was hedrd
talking to a female in the background: Feitl stated, “What the fu*k do I look like, a mother fu*king

gas station, go get cash.” Feitl then explained to Batlow that “the bifch tried 1o pay me with a




Jottery ticket.” Prior to this meeting, there were six calls and/or text messages between Feitl and
Batber, Tollowing Feitl’s directive to ¥go gef cash,” there were an additional three calls and/or
text messages between Feitl and Barber.

On Mareh 8, 2020, Feitl flew from Pittsburgh to Miami and thereafter boarded a cruige
ship. Through GPS tracking, it was confirmed that she was out of the country until March 15, 2020
when she aitived in Miami and flew back to Pittsburgh, While Feitl was out of the counity, Shirey
was in charge of handling Feitl’s "‘bu_si_ﬁe’ss;” Through a review of text messages and use of video
surveillance, it was determined that Shirey communicated with at least two of Feit’s customers -
- Winters and Baptiste - - and subsejuenﬂy sold hjeroin/fentanyl to them. _Both Winters and
Baptiste were instructed by Feitl to contact Shirey in order to purchase the narcotics. Text messages
and video surveillance revealed that Winters purchased heroin/fentanyl fiom Shirey on at least six
occasions for a total of 10 bundles or 100 stamps bags. Baptiste also purchased drugs from Shirey

on at least two occasions while Feitl was away.

On May 9, 2020; members of the Butler City Police Department am;es'ted Winters for
driving under the influence and 1'ecover¢d 15 full stamp bags and five empty stamp bags, Winters
told the officers that she had purchased the drugs from “Dez” (Feitl), The drugs wefe subsequently
submitted to the Pennsylvania State Police Greensburg Regional Laboratory (“PSP Laboratory™)
for analysis. The results fevealed the presence of heroin, a schedule 1 controlled substance, and
fentanyl, a schedule IT controlled substance. Text messages between F eifl and Winters prior to her
traffic stop confirmed that Wintets had, in fact, ordered 20 stamp bags from Feitl.

On July 28, 2020, officers were conducting suveillarice in the parking lot at the Greater
Butler Mart in Butler Township when they DBSéI‘Ved Winters driving vp and down the lanes of

parked vehicles very slowly, Winters appeared to be checking for the presence of surveiflance/law




enforcement. Shé then parked on the north end of the lat, two rows south of the McDonald’s, Feitl
then drove into the parking lot, stopping adjacent to Winter's vehicle. Winters proceeded fo get
out of her vehicle and go to the passenger side window of Feitl's vehicle: Winters then reached in
and made an exchange with Feitl. Wintets returned to her vehicle and Feitl left the lot. Next,
Winters moved her vehicle and patked beside the McDonald’s. When she got out of her vehicle,
she was approached by the officers. Upon seeing them, she held out two bundles of heroin/fentanyl
and stated, "She just rolled up on me and gave me these." The diugs were submitted to the PSP
Laboratory and tested positive for heroin and fentanyl. Leading up to this purchase, there were
seven text messages and/or calls between Feitl and Winters,

On October 15, 2020, a traffic stop was initiated on Renaissance Drive in Butler County,
Powell was identified as the sole occupant of the vehicle. A search of the vehicle revealed two
knotted baggies containing a combined total of approximately 1,149 stamp bags. The drugs were
submitted to the PSP Laboratory and tested positive for fentanyl, weighing 24.6 grams.

On October 15, 2020, Feiil was taken into custody oh existing warrants while opstating
her 2011 GMC Terrain. Seven bundles of suspected heroin and/or fentanyl were 1‘ecovex'ed from
her person, The 66 stamp bags were submitted to the PSP Laboratory where testing revealed the
presence of 1.6 grams of fentanyl. A warrant was thereafter obtained to search the 2011 GMC
Terrain, A search of that vehicle resulted in the seizure of the following: $533.00 in U.S, currency;
Nine deposit slips between the dates of March 16, 2020 and. October 13, 2020 totaling $13,332.00
for First National Bank Account # 95044008; a Huntington Bank debit card in the name of Feitl;
and, a US Bank debit card in the name 6f Feitl.

Following Feitl’s atrest, a search, warrant was also executed at her residence in Butlet.

Irivestigatots seized of 1,121 stamp bags of suspected heroin/fentanyl, $10,220.001n U.S. currency




and other drug-related items. The stamp bags were submitted to thie PST Laboratory where testing
confirmed the presence of 27.4 grams of fentanyl.

Search warrants were also exectited at two of Feitl’s storage facilities at Hillvue Storage in
Butler; D. Up 7 and B-6, The seaich conducted at 1D, Up 7 resulted in the seizire of a black safe
that contained approximately $234,000.00 in U.S, currency, the majority of which consisted of
$100.00 bills,

Narcotics Agent Douglas Brink (*NA Brink™} of the Pennsylvania Office of Attorney
General informed the Grand Jury that he spoke with a 1'epreséntatives at Dollar Bank who advised
that Feitl’é account had been flagged and subsequently closed due to concetns about money
layndering, They stated that Feit] routinely brought in small doliar bills and asked that they be
converted into $100.00 bills,

Powell to Crystal Pakuiz to Brandi Zediker

Pakutz appeared before the Grand Jury and testified that she began purchasing
heroin/fentanyl from Powell, whom she knows as “Slim,? in March or April 2020. Pakutz stated
that she was broke at the time and decided to “work” for him by selling heroin.

Pakutz testified that for the first few weeks, stie was purchasing two bricks (100 starap
bags) each time when Powell came o town. After that, she began purchasing 20 to 30 bricks per
frip, and, sometime in June or July; she began purchasing 20 to 30 grams of heroin/fentany! in a
single day. She stated that Powell had also provided her with a large quantity of empty stamp bags
during one of his trips. Pakutz told the Grand Fury that she lived st the Holiday Inn Express in
Butler for approximately ohe and one-half months prior to her arrest on October 1, 2020. Powell
would stay at the hotel when he was in town. She advised that sometimes he would stay in his

own room and other timés he would.stay with her in her room.




Palcutz advised that she sold the heroin/fentanyl that she purchased fiom Powell to vartous
other individuals on a regular basis. According to Pakutz, she had three clients who purchased
from het on a daily basis; Brandi Zediker (“Zediker), Destiny Stemierich (“Stemmerich”) and
Chuistian Manny (“Manny™). Zediker putchased five grams per day, évely day, from Maich or
April until sometime in July or August when she began purchasing five grams every other day
until Octobei. In July or August, Pakutz advised that she also began selling to Stemmérich and
Manny, She stated that they each purchased one or two bricks, every day or every other day.
Pakutz stated that she also sold to other individuals, but not as regularly as she sold to Zediker,
Stemmerich and Manny. Pakutz advised that she would sometimes “front” these three individuals
the controlled substances, She explained that after she began purchasing drugs from Powell in
grams rather than stamp bags, she would provide empty stamp bags with the heroin/fentanyl to
Zediker, Stemmerich and Manny. They would then re-package it, sell it and bring Pakutz the
money that they owed. to her. Pakutz also Itold the Grand Jury that, on occasion, Powell had
provided her with illegal drugs - - other than heroin/fentanyl - - to sell.

The Grand Jury learned that areview of telephone records and text messages confirmed
that Palutz and Powell communicated on a regular basis and that Pakutz fiequently communicated
with Zediker, Stemmerich and Manny. Pakutz also communicated with multiple other individuals,
discussing the distribution of controlléd substances.

On Tuly 6, 2020, officers met with a confidential informant (“CI”) in order to conduct a

controlled puirchase of two bundles of heroin from Zediker. The CI was searched prior to the
purchase and found to be free of controfled substantes, money arnd wegpons. The CI contacted
Zediker via telephone and arranged to meet at her (Zediker’s) residence. The CI was followed fo

the residence and was undér constant surveillance until entry into the home. A shoit time later,




‘the CI left the 1esidence and returned td officei's where he/she mrhéd over 20 stamp bags, advisihg
that he/she had purchased the heroin from Zediker. The CI stated that Zediker had retrieved a
larger bag of heroin from her bedroom and bagged the individual stamp bags in the presence of
the CI. The diugs were subseguently submitted to the PSP Labotatory where testing tevealed the
presence of less than 1 grar of fentanyl, or, approximately .019 grams of fentanyl per bag:

The Grand Juty leafned that on September 10, 2020, Detective Timothy Fennell of the
Butler County District Aftorney’s Office was conducting surveillance of Powell at the Holiday Inn
Expréss when he obsell{red Loiraine Zediker (“L Zediker”), a known heroin user, arrive at the rear
of the hotel. Pakutz exited the hotel a‘nd met with L. Zediker for a brief period of time. Both of
them then departed in L. Zediker’s Jeep Cherokee. Pakutz was observed coming-and going from
the hotel several times on September 10 and 11, 2020,

A review of text messages fiom Pakuiz’s mobile telephone revealed that from September
9 through 11, 2020, Pakutz delivered heroin/fentanyl, crack cocaine and methamphetamine to at
least 10 different people. The.quantities varied by person from.a “bun” (10 stamp bags), a “whole,”
a “brick” or a “breezy” (50 stamp bags) to multiple-grams of heroin/fentanyl, At one point during
these conversations Pakutz told multiple customiers that “My Ppls is here at the Telly(Hotel) it
me & they have some light brown shyt; but IDK how il is. They actually want me to have my Ppl
fry it.” The text messages inteicepted indicated that Zediker artanged to trdde “23 20's "(pills)
with Pakutz for a “whole one, " meaning a brick of heroin/fentanyl, on Septerber 10, 2020 as was
observed through surveillance.

On October 1, 2020, Pakufz was detdined and placed in the Butler County Prison on a
bench warrant from Allegheny County, At11:31 ﬁ.m., Pakutz placed a recorded telephone call to

her imother. Duiing this call, she jnstructed her mother to go to the room and get the light pink
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Look bag. At the end of the éall, Pakutz stated; “Make sute you get everything out of that room
especially that book bag ASAP.” |

Officers contacted management at the Holiday Inn Express and confirmed that Pakutz had
been staying in Room 206. Swrveillance video from the rear of the hotel also confirmed that Pakutz
stayed there on the night of September 30, 2020 into October 1, 2020. A search warrant was
subsequiently executed on Room 206 ard a bag of suspected fentanyl, ‘a scale, erﬁp‘tjz stamp bags
and other packaging materials wete recovered. The drugs were submitted to the PSP Laboratory
where testing revealed the presence of 8,67 grams of fentanyl,

Altogether, Powell made at least 33 trips from Philadelphia to Butler, between January 18,
2020 and October 15, 2020, to deliver illegal drugs to Feitl and Pakutz. The dates of Powell’strips
are as follows:
o Januvary 1819, 2020
o January 25 - 26, 2020
e February 1 -4, 2020
o February 13 — 14, 2020
o February 22-23, 2020
e February 28 —March?2, 2020
e March 7-11, 2020
e March 15 -16, 2020
o March 20 —21, 2020
o March 25 —26, 2020
e April1-2,2020

e April 6 -8, 2020

11




April 9-12, 2020
April 14 - 17,2020

April 21 23,2020

May 2 — 5, 2020

May 9 — 10, 2020

May 14 — 16, 2020

May 20-22, 2020

May 25 —27, 2020

May 30 — June 1, 2020

June 4-6, 2020

June 12 — 14, 2020

June 26 — 28, 2020

July 5 -6, 2020

hily 13 - 14, 2020

July 26 — 28, 2020

August 2, 2020 (round frip in one day)
August 9, 2020 (round trip in one day)
August 23 -25, 2020

Septembet 9-11, 2020

September 16 - 18, 2020

Septembei 30, 2020 (round trip all in one day)

October 15, 2020
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NA Brink informed the Grand Jury that he was able to estimate the quantities of
heroin/fentany! that Powell, Feitl and Pakutz were selling during the course of investigation based
upon witness interviews, narcotics séizures and text message convefsations, From Januaty 18,
2020 through October 15, 2020, he estimated that, on the conservative end, Powell {ransported
approximately 1,030 bricks (1,030 grams) of heroin/fentanyl from Philadelphia' to Butler County
for Feitl and Pakutz. From Januaiy 18, 2020 through October 15, 2020, he estimated that, on the
conservative end, Feit] sold approximately 256 bricks (256 grams) of heroin/fentanyl and that
Pakutz sold approximately 820 bricks (820 grams) of heroin/fentany] from April 1, .2020 through

October 1, 2020,
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT
COUNTY OF:BUTLER (B2, ey ho 0\ COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
Magisterial District Number: 50-5-03 VS.
MBJ: Hon. William T. Fullerton (NAME and ADDRESS}):
Address: 227 West Cunningham Street DESIRAE FEITL

Butler, PA 16003-1208 First Name Middle Name Last Name Gen

210 Pillow Street
Telephone: (724)431-4854 Butler, PA 16001
: NCIC Extradition Code Type
1-Felony Full {1 5-Feleny Pending Extradition [.] C-Misdemeanar Surrounding States [ Distance:
[ 2-Felony Limited [1 6-Felony Pending Extradition Determ. [ D-Misdemeanor No Extradition
[1 3-Felony Surrounding States [] A-Misdemeanor Full [J E-Misdemeanor Pending Extradition
[ 4-Felony No Extradition {_] B-Misdemeanor Limited [1 F-Misdemeanor Panding Fxtradition
DEFENDANT IDENTIFICATION INFORMATION
Dogket Number Date Filed OTN/LiveScan Number Complaint/Incident Number Request Lab Services?
D AR =en Tyl i AN S N Py BN6005117DF 0 vEs [INO
GENDER pon1/16/1987 | poB | ngaibos  / / Co-Defendant(s) [
1 Male First Name . Middle Name Last Name Gen.
B Female AKA
RACE Bq White [ Asian '] Black ] Native American 1 Unknown
ETHNICITY Hispanic {1 Non-Hispanic {1 Unknown
_ [ Gry (Gray) [ RED {Red/Aubs.) [ sDY (sandy} "1 BLU {Blug) [J PLE (Purple) BRO {Brown)

gz'lgr [ BLK {Black) [C1 ONG (Orangs) [ WHI (Whits) [] XXX (Unk./Baldy  [] GRN (Green) [ PNK {Pink)

71 BLN (Bionde / Strawberry}
Eye [J 8K (Black) {1 BLU (Blue) BRO (Brown) [ GRN (Green) [ GRrY (Gray}
Color  [JHAZ (Hazel) [ J#AR (Maroon) L1 PaK (Pink) [ MuL (Mutiicolored) [[1 XXX (tnknawn)
DNA [JYES [JNO | DNA Location WEIGHT (1bs.)
FBI Number | 'MINU Number 160
Defendant Fingerprinted | [J YES [ NO Ft. HEIGHT In.
Fingerprint Classification: | 5 | 5

DEFENDANT VEHICLE INFORMATION
State | Haz Registration Comm'l Veh. School Veh, [1 | Oth. NCIC Veh. Code Reg.

Plate # "St Sticker (MMIYY) | Ind. [ same as
VIN Year Make Model Style Color |

Office of the attorney for the Commonwealth & Approved [0 Disapproved because:

{The atlarney Tor the Gomrmonwealth may require that the complaint, arrest warrant affidavit, or both be approved by the attorney for the Commonwealth prior to
filing. See Pa,R.Crim.P. 507).

(Name of the altorney for the Commonweaith) {Signature of the alterney for the Commoenwealth) / ({/)ale}
I,_DOUGLAS C. BRINK/TIMOTHY FENNELL 338/4179 |
(Name of the Affiant) (PSP/MPOETC -Assigned Affiand ID Number & Badge # }

(Identify Department or Agency Represented and Political Subdivision) (Police Agency ORI Number}
do hereby state: (check appropriate box)
1. & 1 accuse the above named defendant who lives at the address set forth above

I | accuse the defendant whose name is unknown to me but who is described as

of _ Pennsvlvania Office of Attorney General PA0222400 |’

[ | accuse the defendant whose name and popular designation or nickname are unknown to me and whom | have
therefore designated as John Doe or Jane Doe

with violating the penat laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania at [301] City Of Butler
(SuBdvisien Codej — (Place-Pontical Subdivision
in BUTLER County [10] on or about JANUARY 18, 2020 THRU OCTOBER 15, 2020

{County Code}

AOPC 4124 — Rev. 7/18
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% POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Docket Number: = Date Filed: _ OTN/LiveScan Number Complaint/incident. Number
(v ey oy | Ko 1327, - BNB005117DF
condant Name: First: ! Middle: Last:

Defendant Name: DESIRAE FEITL

The acts comrmitted by the accused are described below with each Act of Assembly or statute allegedly violated, if appropriate.

When there is more than one offense, each offense should be numbered chronologically.

(Set forth a brief summary of the facts sufficient to advise the defendant of the nature of the offense(s) charged. A citation to the statute(s) allegedly violated,
withaut more, is not sufficient, In a summary case, you must cite the specific section(s) and subsection{s) of the statute(s} or ordinance(s) allegedly violated.
The age of the victim at the time of the offense may be included if known. in addition, social security numbers and financial Information (e.g. PINs} should not
be listed. If the identity of an account must be estahlished, list only the last four digits. 204 PA.Code §§ 213.1-213.7.}

Incheate | [ Attempt [ solicitation [ Conspiracy Number of Victims Age 60 or Older
Offense 189071 A 18902 A 18903

0 |1 911 b3 “ofthe. | TITLE 18 1 F1
Lead? Oﬁinse Section Subsection PA Slalute (Title) Counis Grade NCI%S&? nse UCR/NIBRS Cade

PennDOT Data
{if applicable)
Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance). CORRUPT ORGANIZATION-EMPLOYEE:

[1 Interstate ~ [C] safety Zone ] Work Zone

Accident Number

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that, between January 18, 2020 and October 15, 2020, the DEFENDANT, while employed by or
associated with an enterprise did conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprises” affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity
as defined in 18 Pa.C.S.A. 911{h)(1). To Wit: the DEFENDANT did commit, cause to be commitied, promote or facilitate the commission, aid or agree to aid
another in the planning or commission, and/or conspire to commit two or more of the ciminal offenses defined in 18 Pa.C.S.A. 911{h)(1), all of which is in

viofation of Section 911(b)(3) of the PA Crimes Code.

Inchoate (] Attempt 1 Solicitation [ Consplracy Number of Victims Age 60 or Older
Offense 18901 A 18 902 A 18903
O |2 |on b4 “ofthe. | TITLE 18 1 Fi
Lead? Offense# Section Subsection PA Staiute (Title) Counts Grade NCIC Offense Cade UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data Accident
(if applicable) Number [ interstate I Safety Zone - [] Work Zene

“Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance): CORRUPT ORGANIZAION- CONSPIRACY TO VIOLATE 911 B1, 911 B2
OR 911 B3;

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense; In that, between January 18, 2020 and October 15, 2020, the DEFENDANT did agree with one or
more persons that they, or one or more of them, would engage in conduct which constitutes a viokation of 18 Pa.C.S.A 911(b)(1), (2) or (3), that is, the
DEFENDANT did conspire and agree with Quinzal Powell, Crystal Pakutz, Jodi Shirey and/or others known and unknown that they, or one or more of them,
would conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, while employed by or associated with an enterprise i the conduct of such enterprises’ affairs through a
pattern of racketeering activity as defined in 18 Pa.C.S.A. 911(h){1). To Wit: The DEFENDANT did conspire to commit two or more of the criminal offenses

defined in 18 Pa.C.S.A. 911(h)(1), all of which is in violation of Section 911(b)(4) of the PA Crimes Code.)

Inchoate [] Attempt [1 solicitation [0 Conspiracy Number of Victims Age 60 or Older
Offense 18901 A 18902 A 18 803
O |35 |780-113 a(30) | ofthe | TITLE 35 3 F
Lead? Offense# Section Subseclion PA Statute (Title) Counts Grade NCIC Cffense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data Accident ‘
(if applicable) Number O interstate [C] Safety Zone [ Work Zone

Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance). DELIVERY OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE: THE CONTROLLED
SUBSTANCE, DRUG, DEVICE AND COSMETICS ACT, ACT 64 SECTION 13(A), CLAUSE 30(A) FELONY: ,

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that the above named Defendant from January 18, 2020 through October 15, 2020,
knowingly, intentionally and unlawfully delivered fentanyi/herain (Scheduled II/T), on May 9, 2020 did knowingly, intentionally and unlawfully delivered
heroin/fentanyl{Schedule T/1I), on July 28, 2020 did knowingly, intentionally and untawfully delivered heroin/fentanyl (Schedule T/1T) and the Defendant was
not then and there licensed or registered as required by the Act of the Assembly of the Commanwealth of Pennsylvania, In violation of Section 780-113 (a)(30)

of the PA Controlled Substance, Drug, Device and Cosmetics Act (F)

Page __ of __
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%
5% POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Docket Number: ate Filed: OTNiLiveScan Number Complaintiincident Number
(o2 YR | P A58 BN6005117DF
Def:andant Name Fist Middle: Last:

DESIRAE FEITL

The acts committed by the accused are described below with each Act of Assembly or statute allegedly violated, if

appropriate. When there is more than one offense, each offense should be numbered chronologically.
(Set forth a brief summary of the facts sufficient to advise the defendant of the nature of the offense(s) charged. A citation to t

he statute(s) ailegedly

violated, without more, is not sufficient. {n a summary case, you must cite the specific section{s) and subsection(s} of the statute(s} or ordinance(s})
allegedly viclated. The age of the victim at the time of the offense may be included if known. In addition, social security numbers and financial information
{e.9. PINs) shauld not be listed. If the identity of an account must be established, list only the last four diaits. 204 PA.Code §§ 213.1 - 213.7.}

Inchoate | ] Attempt 7] Solicitation [1 Conspiracy
Offense 18 9071 A 18902 A 18 903
O |6 780-113 A(30) e | TITLE 35 1 F
Lead?  Offense# Seclion Subsection PA Staiuie (Title) Counts Grade NCIC Offense Code LCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data Accident
(if applicable) Number ) [M Interstate [1 safety Zone 1 Work Zone

Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance): POSSESSION WITH INTENT TO DELIVER A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE: THE
CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE, DRUG, DEVICE AND COSMETICS ACT, ACT 64 SECTION 13(A), CLAUSE 30(A) FELONY:

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense; In that the above named Defendant did on or about October 15, 2020, knowinaly, intentionally
and unlawfully possessed with the intent to deliver fentanyl (Scheduled IT) and the Defendant was not then and there licensed or registered as required by
the Act of the Assembly of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, in violation of Section 780-113 {a)(30) of the PA Controlled Substance, Drug, Device and

Cosmetics Act (F)
Inchoate | [] Attempt [] Solicitation [ Conspiracy
QOffense 18901 A 18902 A 18 903
0|7 7512 A ofthe.f TITLE18 |1 F3
Lead?  Offenseit Seclion Subsection PA Statute (Tille) Counts Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data Accident
(if applicable) NUMbar [ Interstate [] safety Zone [ Work Zone

Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance): CRIMINAL USE OF A COMMUNICATION FACILITY- COMMISSION OF A FEL:

7512(a) of the PA Crimes Code

Acts of the accused assaciated with this Offense: In that the above named Defendant, between January 18, 2020 and October 15, 2020, did
utilize a communication faciiity to commit, cause or facilitate the deivery of heroin/fentanyl, a Schedule I/II Controlled Substance in violation of Section

Inchoate Attempt [1 Solicitation {1 Conspiracy
QOffense 18901 A 18902 A 18 803
1|6 903 A(1) TITLE 18 1 F
Lead?  Offense# Seclion Subsection PA Statute (Title) Counts Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data Accident
(if applicable) Nurmber [ Interstate [] Safety Zone [ Work Zone

Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance). CRIMINAL CONSPIRACY-ENGANGING:

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense; In that,between January 18, 2020 and October 15, 2020, the DEFENDANT, with the intent of
promoting or facilitating the crimes of Delivery of a Controlled Substance and/or Possession with Intent to Defiver a Controlled Substance, dlid conspire and
agree with Quinzal Powell, Jodi Shirey, Brandi Zediker and/or athers known and unknown that they or one or more of them would engage in conduct
constituting such crime or an attempt or solicitation to commit such crime, in viotation of Section 903(a){(1} of the PA Crimes Code.

AOPC 412A — Rev. 09/12




#i% POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Docket Number: Date Filed: T OTN/LiveScan Number Complaintiincident Number
A=y Ry Epsgo t 1232 - BN6005117DF

\ | st Y Middie: Last
Defendant Name: DESIRAE FEITL

2. | ask that a warrant of arrest or a summons be issued and that the defendant be required to answer the charges | have
made.

3. I verify that the facts set forth in this complaint are true and correct to the best of my knowledge or information and
belief. This verification is made subject to the penalties of Section 4904 of the Crimes Code (18 Pa.C.S. § 4904) relating
to unsworn falsification to authorities.

4. This complaint consists of the preceding page(s) numbered 1 through __.

5. | certify that this filing complies with the provisions of the Case Records Public Access Policy of the Unified Judicial
System of Pennsylvania that require filing confidential information and documents differently that non-confidential

information and documents.

The acts committed by the accused, as listed and hereafter, were against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth

of Pennsylvania and were contrary to the Act(s) of the Assembly, or in violation of the statutes ?ited. )
(Before a warrant of arrest can be issued, an affidavit of probable cause must be completed, sworn.to before the

d
Yo

issuing authority, and attached.) - o e
/."-:( f s A_/)‘/f
- Vo Ty A
APRIL 28, 2021 g
(Date) (Sgnature of Affiant)
AND NOW, on this date - 25 {//7«( /) i | certify that the complaint has been properly completed and verified.

An affidavit of probable cause must be completed before a warrant can be issued.

S50 A o I %
{Magisterial District Court Number) (Issuing Authority)

=EAL

Aopc 412‘&.—._ Rev 7/i8 : e R . - e e e e ”pagé__rof___




AFFIDAVIT

Douglas Brink, Narcotics Agent, of the Pennsylvania Office of Attorney General, Bureau of
Criminal Investigations assigned to thé Bureau of Narcotics Investigations and Timothy Fennell,
Chief County Detective, Butler Co-unty District Attorney's Drug Tésk Force being duly sworn
according to law, depose and say:

Your Affiants are empowered by law to conduct investigations of and to make arrests for
offenses involving violations of the Pennsylvania Crimes Code.

On April 13, 2021, the Forty-Sixth Stﬁtewide Investigating Grand Jury issued Presentment
No. 14, recommending that criminal charges be filed against Desirae Feitl for violations of the
Pennsylvania Crimes Code. The aforementioned Presentment was accepted by the Honorable
Anthony M. Mariani, Supervising Judge of the Forty-Fifth Statewide Investigating Grand Jury, by
Order dated April 14, 2021. A copy of the Presentment and the Order accepting the Presentment is
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.

IHaving read and reviewed the Presentment, and after having participated in this investigation
and considering all the facts and circumstances, your Affiants are adopting the Presentment and
incorporating it fully into this Affidavit :of Probable Cause. Your Affiants aver that the testimony of
the individuals who appeared before the Forty-Sixth Statewide Investigating Grand Jury is consistent
with the information contained within Presentment No. 14 and the information developed within the
course of the investigation specified herein. Furthermore, Presentment No. 14 shows on its face that
it is based upon evidence which the Forty-Sixth Statewide Investigating Grand Jury reviewed and

evaluated which included sworn testimony of witnesses appearing before it and physical evidence

presented to it.




Your Affiants have reviewed the evidence presented before the Forty-Sixth Statewide

Investigating Grand Jury and finds that it comports with the findings of the investigation.

SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED
BEFORE ME THIS 77, DAY

OF April , 2021

/L (4/ (\ ) S

Douglas Brink
Narcotics Agent

| e
J T . B .
(—J’V/ e o T
Timothy Fennell
Chief County Detective
) ol




INTRODUCTION

We, the members of the Forty-Sixth Statewide Investigating Grand Jury, having received
and reviewed evidence pertaining to violations of the Conirolled Substances, Drug, Device and
Cosmetic Act and the Crimes Code of Pennsylvania occuiting in Bufler County, Pennsylvania
pursuant to Notice of Submission of In\lresiigation No. 41, do hereby make the following findings

of fact anid recommendation of chaiges.

FINDINGS OF FACT

The Grand Jury conducted an investigation into a.criminal organization responsible fot the
distribution of heroin/fentanyl in and around Butler County. The investigation revealed that from
January 18, 2020 through October 15, 2020, Quinzal Powell {“Powell”) traveled from Philadelphia
to Butler County in order to deliver large quantities of the confrolled substances. Powell then
conspired with Desirae Feit] (“Feitl”) and Crystal Pakutz (“Pakutz") to distribute the drugs to
others. Tt was determined that Feit! and Pakutz each had tlieir own network of individuals to whom
they sold heroin/fentanyl. During the course of the investigation, it was also determined that when
Feitl was out of the country, Jodi Shi;rc); (“Shirey”) assumed responsibility for Feitl’s role in the
organization. Finally, Brandi Zediket (“Zediker”) was found to be involved in the illegal
distribution of heroin/fentanyl, -

Intérms of the quantity of narcotics being trafficked during this time périod, a,cdnsel‘vati{re
estimate is that Powell transported approx‘imat_ely 1,030 bricks (1,030 grams) of heroin/fentanyl.
A conservative estimate of the heroin/feﬁtanyl subsequently sold by Feitl and Palutz is 256 bricks
(256 grams) and 820 bricks (820 grams), respectively. Investigators also seized in excess of

$244,000.00 in'U.S. currency suspected to be associated with the drug trafficking activity.




The Grand Jury heard testimony that members of law eriforcement utilized various
investigative techniques during the course of the investigation including electronic surveillance,
in-person surveillance, cellular telephone communications monitoring/trap and trace number
monitoring, and, 'GPS and cellular tower location tracking. Investigators also. Iisténed to recorded
prison telephone calls, executed search warrants for text message communications, utilized
confidential informants and soutces, and coiducted traffic stops. With respect to cellular
telephiones, the Girand Jury learnied that Feitl had one telephone that maintained the same numbey
throughout the investigation and was generally only used for conversations with her boyfriend,
Eiic Barlow (“Barlow”), Powell, and others close to her. Her second telephone - - which was
primarily used to ‘conduct her drug transactions - - changed numbers nine times throughout the
course of the investigation, For his part, Powell maintained two telephones and used both for
conversations with Feitl and Palutz. Both telephones changed mumbers five times during the
course of the investigation. The Grand Jury heard testimony that changing telephone numbers is
comitnon for individuals who ate trafficking narcotics in an attempt to conceal their activities from
law enforcement.

Powell to Desirae Feitl and Jodi Shirey

Cellulai telephorie communications between Feitl and Powell were constant throughout the
course of the investigation, increasing around the dates When Powell was traveling to and/ox
present in Butler, Surveillance confirmed many of the meetings. Text messages detailed the
amount of narcotics Powell would be -supplying on particular frips; and on one occasion, as noted
below, police stopped Powell’s car and récovered over 1,000 bags of fenitanyl in a seatch, The

bags matched those later found in a seatch of Feitl’s house.




Investigators were able to trace the path of the drugs Powell delivered to Feitl. Retords
revealed that Feitl had daily communications with Shirey, Vietoria Baptiste (“Baptiste™), Shannon
Winters (“Winters”), Cayla Cygan (“Cygan”), Rachel Barber (“Barber”), Chad Finucan
(“Finucan™) and others who were nof identified. Multiple search wartants were obtained for
Feitl’s text messages and the results revealed thousands of conversations with the aforementioned
individuals concerning the illegal distribution of controlled substances. Most of the text messages.
utilized coded language concerfing drug trafficking. This included using other words to describe
the drugs, texi:in_g only numbers to order a speeific number of stamp bags and/or price, and, using
single words to direct-the buyers to a meeting location.

Throughout the investigation, membeis of law enforcement observed Feitl meeting with
Baptiste, Winters, Shirey, Cygan, Barber and Finucan at various locations. throughout Butler.
Some of Feit!’s regular meeting places included the parking lots of the following establishments:
Save-A-Lot; the Clearview Mall; McDonald’s; the Pointe Plaza; and the Greater Butler Mart. At
each of these meetings, Feitl met with the individual for a brief pefiod of time and then both
vehicles left the parking lot. Text message conversations between Feitl and these individuals - -
occurting prior to and after the meetings - - confirmed that they were purchasing controlled
substances from Feitl. The chait below provides the date, location and the name of'the individual

with whom Feitl met to sell drugs, as observed by investigaters conducting surveillance.

DATE T LOCATION ~ INDIVIDUAL
| PURCHASING DRUGS
February 2, 2020 Clearview Mall parking lot Shannion Winters
Maich 19, 2020 MeDonald’s parking lot in Victoria Baptiste and
the Greater Butler Mart Shannon Winters
March 25, 2020 ' Savé—ATLot patking lot at RacheI. Barber and Shahnon
Pullman Squate Winters




April 21, 2020 Save-A-Lot patking ot in Billy Abrams
‘ ' Pullman Square o o
April 27, 2020 Clearview Mall Jodi Shirey and Shannon
. ‘ Winteis

April 28, 2020 Point Plaza parking lot Chad Finucan

April 28, 2020 Rite Aid paiking lot " Sbannon Winters

May 13, 2020 Save-A-Lot parking lot at Shainon Winters
Pullman Square

May 13, 2020 Hillvue Self Storage Jodi Shirey

June 4, 2020 Intersection of Eau Claire Cayla Cygan

Street and Fifth Street

September 11, 2020 Save-A-Lot parking lot in Jodi Shirey

Puliman Square

The Grand Jury heard evidence that Baptiste had been puichasing heroin/fentanyl from
Feitl on a daily basis for approximately two to three years. She was buying 10 to 20 bags per day.
Baptiste testified that she would text Feitl the number of bags that she wanted and then wait for
Feitl to send her a message regarding the meeting location. Baptiste stated that she routinely met
Feitl at the Save-A-lot or McDonald’s where the two would complete the transaction in the parking
lot.

The Grand Juty also heard testimony that Cygan began purchasing hegoin/fentanyl from
Teifl in March or April 2020 and that she continued fo purchase from her until sometime in
September of that year. Cygan stated that she purchiased anywhete from 10 stamp bags to two
bricks;l from Feitl on a daily basis. She would often meet Feitl at the Save-A-Lot or McDonald’s

whore the two would complete the transaction in the parking lot.

I The Grand Jury learned that there ate typically ten bags of hgaroiri/fentariyl in a bundle and five
bundles in a brick, A brick usually weighs one to one and-a half grams,




The Grand Jury learned that. Winters began purchasing heroin/fentariyl from Feitl, on a
daily basis, sometime i May 2019. Winters putchased one or two bundles per day, occasionally
buying a brick. Winters met with Feitl at the Cleatview Mall, Walmart, Greater Butler Mart and
other locations and they would complefe the transaction in thie parking lot.

On October 2, 2019, a search warrant was executed at Barlow’s residence in McKeesport,
Allegheny County where 150 bricks of heroin were seized. Barlow was arfested and then
wansferied to the Butlér County Prison on a detainer. On November 15, 2019 at 10:54 a.m.,
Barlow placed é1‘ecorded call to Feitl from the prison, During the call, Feitl told Barlow that she
was “pissed.” She explained that she heard a garbage truck outside of her residence at 2;45 am.,
woke up, and assunied it was the police coming to her house. Feitl stated to Batlow, “ think you
already know what happened . . . ahh, bunch of shit wwent down the. toilet.” TFeitl then elaborated
by stating, “Z just fu*king, 1 just lost @ bunch of money . .. I just Suked myself for real” .meaning
that she had flushed the controlled substances that she had prepared to sell.

On November 18, 2019, in another recorded call between Feitl and Barlow, the two
discussed a seatrch wanﬁnt that was executed at a residence in Butler that day‘wherc Shirey was
present, Feitl told Barlow that “Jodi got the car impounded with my God damn money in it”.

On February 2, 2020, in another recorded call to Barlow, Feitl stated, “The fit*king
township cops are driving around . . . now I can’t leave. This is real fu*lking stressful, this is
making me real sick to my stomach vight now. He's definitely watching. I'can’t be on the phone
right nowe and deal with this shit.”

On March 20, 2020, during a recorded call between Feitl and Barlow, Feitl was heard
talling to a female in the background. Feitl stated, “What the fu*k do 1 look like, a mother fu*king

gas station, go get cash.” Feitl then explained to Barlow that “the biteh tried to pay me with a




lottery ticket,” Prior to this meeting, there were six calls and/or text messages between Feitl and
Barber. Following Feitl’s directive to “go get cash,” there were an additional three calls and/or
texi messages between Feitl and Barber.

On March 8, 2020, Feitl flew ﬁomlPittsburgh to Miami and thereafler boarded a cruise
ship. Through GPS tracking; it was confirmed that she was out of the country until March 15, 2020
when she atrived in Miami and flew back to Pittsburgh, While Feitl {fyas out of the country, Shirey
was in charge of handling Feitl’s "‘bu_siﬁess;” Through a review of text messages and use of video
surveillance, it was determinéd that Shirey communicated with at léast two of Feitl’s customers -
- Winters and Baptiste - - and subsequently sold hieroin/fentanyl to them. Both Winters and
Baptiste were instructed by Feitl to contact Shirey in order to purchase the narcotics, Text messages
and video surveillanoe fevealed that Winters purchased heroin/fentanyl from Shirey on at least six
occasions for a total of 10 bundles or 100 stamps bags. Baptiste also purchased drugs from Shirey

on at least two occasions while Feitl was away.

On May 9, 2020, members of the Butler City Police Department arrested Winters for
driving under the influence and recovered 15 full stamp bags and five empty stamp bags. Winters
told the officers that she had purchased the drugs from “Dez” (Feitl). The drugs were subsequently
su‘brpiﬁed to the Pennsylvania State Police Greensburg Regional Laboratory (“PSP Laboratory™)
for analysis. The results revealed the presence of heroin, a schedule I controlled substance, and
fentanyl; a schedule I controlled substance. Text messages between Feifl and Winters prior to her
traffic stop confirmed that Winters had, in fact, ordered 20 stamp bags from Feitl.

On July 28, 2020, officers were conducting suiveillance i the parking lot at the Greater
Butler Mart. in Butler Township when they observed Winters driving up and down the lanes of

patked vehicles very slowly. Wititers appeared 10 be checking for the preserice of surveillance/law




enforcement. Shs then park,ed on the north end of the lot, two rows south of the McDornald’s. Feitl
then drove into the parking lot, stopping adjacent to Winter's vehicle. Wintets proceeded to get
out of her vehicle and go to the passenger side window of Feitl's vehicle. Winters then reached in
and inade an exchange with Feitl, Winteis returned to hier vehlcle and Feitl left the lof, Next,
Winters moved her vehicle and parl_cedjbeside the McDonald’s. When she got out of her x'/ehicie,
she was approached by the officers. Upon seeing them, she held out two bundles of hetoin/fentanyl
and stated, "She just rolled up on mé and gave me these." Thie diugs were sybmiited to the PSP
Laboratory and tested positive for heroin and fentanyl. Leading up to this purchase, there were

seven text messages and/or calls between Feitl and Winters,

On October 15, 2020, a traffic stop was initiated on Renaissance Drive in Butler County.
Powell was identified as the sole occupant of the vehicle. A search of the vehicle revealed two
knotted baggies containing & cotnbined total of approximately 1,149 stamp bags. The drugs were
submitted to the PSP Laboratory and tested positive for fentanyl, weighing 24.6 grams.

On October 15, 2020, Feitl was taken into custody on existing warrants while operating
her 2011 GMC Terrain, Seven bundles.of suspected heroin and/or fentanyl were 1'ec0yered from
her person. The 66 stamp bags wert submitted to the PSP Laboratory where testing revealed the
presence of 1.6 grams of fentanyl. A warrant was thereafter obtained to search the 2011 GMC
Terrain. A search of that vehicle resulted in the seizure of the following: $533.00in U.S. currency;
Nine deposit slips between the dates of March 16, 2020 and October 13, 2020 totaling $13,332.00
for First National Bank Account # 95044008; a Huntington Bank debit card in the name of Feitl;
and, a US Bink debit card in the name of Feitl,

Following Feitl’s arrest, a search warrant was also executed at her residence in Butlet.

Investigators seized of 1,121 stamp bags of suspected heroin/fentanyl, $10,220,00 in U.S. curréncy




and other drug-related iterns, The stamp bags were submiitted to thie PSP Laboratory where testing
confirmed the presence of 274 grams of fentanyl.

Search warzants wers also exectited at two of Feitl’s storage facilities at Hillvue Storage in
Butler: D, Up 7 and B-6. The seatch 601‘1d11ct¢d at D, Up 7 resulted in the geizute of a black safe
that contained: approximately $234,000.00 in U.S. cmrrency, the majority of which consisted of
$100,00 bills, |

Nercotics Agent Douglas Brink (“NA Brink™) of the Pennsylvania Office of Attorney
General informed the Grand Jury that he spoke with a representatives at Dollar Bank who advised
that Feitl’s account had been ﬂagged and subsequently closed due to concerns about money
Jaundering, They stated that Feitl routinely brought in small dollar bills and asked that they be
converted into $100.00 bills,

Posell to Crystal Pakutz to Brandi Zediker

Pakutz appeared before the Grand Jury and testified that she began purchasing
heroin/fentanyl from Powell, whom she knows as “Slim,” in March ot April 2020. Pakutz stated
that she was broke at the time and decided to “work” for him be selling heroin.

Pakutz testified that for the first few weeks, she was purchasing two bricks (100 starp
bags) each time when Powell came to town. After that, she began-pu-rchasing 20 to 30 bricks per
irip, and, sometime in June or July; she:began purchasing 20 to 30 grams of heroin/fentdnyl in-a
single day. She stated that Powell had also provided her with a large quantity of empty stamp bags
during one of his trips. Palutz told the Grand Jury that she lived at the Holiday Inn Express in
Butler for approximately ofie and oie-half months prior to her awest on October 1, 2020 Powell
would stay at the hotel when he was in town. She advised that sometimes he would stay in his

own room and cthet timés he would stay with her in her room.




Palcutz advised that she sold the heroin/fentanyl that she purchased from Powell to various
othet individuals on a regular basis. According to Pakutz, she had three clients who purchased
from her on a daily basis: Brandi Zediker (“Zediket”), Destiny Steminerich (“Stemmerich”) and
Chuistian Manny (“Manny”). Z,edil_cer. puichased five grams pei day; evety day, from Match or
April until sometime in July or Augost when she began purchasing five grams every other day
until Octobst, In July or August, Pakutz advised that she also began selling to Stemmerich and
Mammy. She stated that they each -pu_l:'chased one or two bricks, every day or every other day.
Pakutz stated that she also sold to other individuals, but not as regularly as she sold to Zediker,
Stemmerich and Manny. Pakutz advised that she would sometimes “front” these three individuals
the confrolled substances. She explained that after she began purchasing drugs from Powell in
grams father than stamp bags, she would provide empty stamp bags with the heroin/fentanyl to

| Zediker, Stemmerich and Manny, They would then re-package it, sell it and bring Pakutz the
money that they owed to her. Pakutz also .told the Grand Jury that, on occasion, Powell had
provided her W’ith illegal drugs - - other than heroin/fentanyl - - to sell.

The Grand Jury learned that a review of telephone records and text:messages confirmed
that Pakutz and Powell communicatéd on a regular basis and that Pakuitz frequently communicated
with Zediker, Steramerich and Manny, Pakutz also communicated with multiple other individuals,
discussing the distribution of controlled substances.

On Tuly 6, 2020, officers met with a confidential informant (“CI") in order to conduct a
controlled purchase of two bundles of heroin from Zediker. The CI was searched prior to the
purchase and found to be free of controlled substances, money and weapons, The CI contacted
Zediker via telephone and arranged to meet at her (Zediker’s) residence. The CI was followed to

the.residence and was under constant surveillance until entry into the home. A short time later,




the CI lefl the résidence and returned to officets where he/she furhed over 20 stamp bags, advising
that he/shé had purchased the heroin from Zediker, The CI stated that Zediker had refrieved a
larger bag of heioin fror her bedrooni and bagged the individual stamp bags in the presence of
the C1. The drugs were subségu,enﬂy submitted to the PSP Laboratory where testing ievealed the
presence of less than 1 gram of fentanyl, or, appioximately .019 grams of fentanyl per bag:

The Grand Juty ledtned that oh September 10, 2020, Detective Timothy Feimell of the
Butler-County District Attornefs Office was conducting surveillance of Powell at the Holiday Inn
Express when he observed Lorraine Zediker (“L Zediker™), a known heroin user, arrive at the rear
of the hotel. Pakutz exited the hote! and met with L. Zediker for a brief petiod of time. Both of
them then departed in L. Zediker’s Jeep Cherokee. Pakutz was observed coming:and going from
the hotel several times on September 10 and 11, 2020,

A review of text messages from Pakutz’s mobile telephone revealed that from September
9 through 11, 2020, Pakutz delivered heroin/fentanyl, crack cocaine and methamphetamine to at
least 10 different people. The.quantities varied by person from.a “bun” (10 stamp bags), a “whole,”
a “brick” or a “breezy” (50 stamp bags) to multiple grams of heroin/fentanyl. At one point during
these conversations Pakutz told multiple customiers that “My Ppls is here at the Telly(Hotel) wit
me & they have some light brown shyt; but IDK how it is. They actyally want me fo have my Ppl
fry it.” The text messages intercepted indicated that Zediker arranged fo trade 23 20°s”(pills)
with Pakutz for a “whole one, ” meaning a brick of heroin/fentanyl, on September 10, 2020 as was
observed through surveillance.

On Oc'to;‘b'gr 1, 2020, Pakutz was detdined and placed in the Butler Coutity Prison on a
bench warrant from Allegheny County. At 11:31 a.m., Pakutz placed a recorded telephone call to

her mother. During this call, she instiucted her mothet to go to the room and get the light pink
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book bag. At the end of the call, Pakutz stated; “Make sure you get everything out of that toom
especially that book bag ASAP.”

Officers contacted m'anageme_ﬁt at the Holiday Inn Express and confirmed that Pakutz had
been staying in Room 206. Surveillance video from the rear of the hotel also confirmed that Pakutz
stayed there on the night of September 30, 2020 into October 1, 2020. A search warrant was
subsequently executed on Room 206 and a bag of suspected feritanyl, -a scale, empty starip bags
and other packaging materials wete r,ect)\.lered. The drugs were submitted tq the PSP Laboratory
where testing revealéd the presence of 8.67 grams of fentanyl.

Altogether, Powell made at least 33 trips from Phil.adelphia to Butler, between January 18,

2020 and Octeber 15, 2020, to deliver illegal drugs to Feitl and Pakutz, The dates of Powell’s trips

are as follows:

¢ January 18 —19, 2020

s Jahuary 25 - 26, 2020

e THebruary 14, 2020

» February 13 — 14, 2020

» February 22-23, 2020

s Febroary 28 — March2, 2020
e March 7-11, 2020

¢ March 15 -16, 2020

o March 20 21, 2020

e March 25 —26, 2020

e April 1 -2,2020
o April6-8,2020
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April 9-12, 2020

April 14 - 17, 2020

April 21 23, 2020

May 2 — 5, 2020

May 9 - 10, 2020

May 14 — 16, 2020

May 20-22, 2020

May 25 —27, 2020

May 30 — June 1, 2020

June 4-6, 2020

June 12 -- 14, 2020

June 26 — 28, 2020

July 56, 2020

hily 13 - 14, 2020

July 26 — 28, 2020

August 2, 2020 (round trip in one day)
August 9, 2020 (round trip in one day)
August 23 -25, 2020

September 9-11, 2020

September 16 — 18, 2020

Septembet 30, 2020 (tound trip all in one day)

‘October 15, 2020
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NA Brink informed the Grand Juty that he was able to estimate the quantities of
heroin/fentanyl that Powell, Feitl and Pakutz were selling during the course of investigation based
upon witness infei'views, narcotics seizures and text messa'ge_cc':»nversation's, From Januaty 18,
2020 through October 15, 2020, he estimated that, on the conservative end, Powell transported
approximately 1,030 bricks (1,030 grams) of heroin/fentanyl from Philadelphia to Butler County
for Feitl and Pakutz. From Januaty 18, 2020 through October 15, 2020, he estimated that, on the
conservative end, Feitl sold approximately 256 bricks {256 grams) of heroin/fentanyl and that

Pakutz sold approximately 820 bricks (820 grams) of heroin/fentanyl from April 1, 2020 through

October 1, 2020.
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POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
COUNTY OF:BUTLER ¢ ‘ TS COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
Magisteria} District Number: 50-5-03 ' ' VS.
MDJ: Hon. William T. Fullerton (NAME and ADDRESS):
Address; 227 West Cunningham Street JODI SUE SHIREY
Butler, PA 16003-1208 First Name Middie Name Last Name Gen
121 Monaco Street
Telephone: (724)431-4854 Butler, PA 16002
NCIC Extradition Code Type
1-Felony Full [J 5-Falony Pending Extradition [] c-Misdemeanor Surrounding Staies [ Distance:
[l 2-Felony Limited [ 6-Felony Pending Extradition Determ. [} D-Misdemeanar No Extradition
[ 3-Felony Susrcunding States 3 A-Misdemeanor Full [ E-Misdemeanor Pending Extradition
[ 4-Felony No Extradition [1 B-Misdemeanor Limited [ F-Misdemeanor Pending Exiradition
DEFENDANT IDENTIFIGATION INFORMATION
Dogcket Number Date Filed OTN/LiveScan Number Complaint/incident Number Request Lab Services?
(R V=5 200 d Tog o | W VRS 2 BNG0051171S 0 Yes [QNO
GENDER boB 6/27/1970 | PoB 0 | adatpoe [/ Co-Defendant(s) Ll
[ Male First Name Middie Name Last Name Gen.
<] Female AKA
RACE White ] Asian [} Black ] Native American ] Unknown
ETHNICITY 1 Hispanic <] Non-Hispanic (1 Unknown
[ GRY (Gray) [ rRED (Red/Aubn.) {1 sDY (Sandy) [] 8LU {Blue) {1 PLE (Pursle) BRO (Brown)
gg'lgr 1] BLK (Black) [ oNG (Orange) 3 wwHt (white) [T xxx (Unk/Bald) ] GRN (Green) [ BNK (Pink)
[] 8LN {Blonde / Strawberry)
Eye [ BLK (Black) [ BLU {Blus) {73 BRO (Brown) GRN {Green) 1 GRY (Gray)
Color  [1HAZ (Hazel) {] MAR (Maroon) [ eNK (Pink) [] MUL (Multicolored) [ XXX (Unknown)
DNA [1YES [1NO | DNA Location WEIGHT (ibs.)
FBI Number ‘ MNU Number 110
Defendant Fingerprinted | [J YES ] NO Ft. HEIGHT In.
Fingerprint Classification: | 4 ! i1
DEFENDANT VEHICLE INFORMATION
State | Haz Registration Comm’l Veh. School Veh. [] | Oth. NCIC Veh. Code Reg.
Plate # ngt Sticker (MM/YY) / ind. £l sagec;'as
VIN Year Make NModel Style Color [

Office of the attorney for the Commonwealth X Approved [ Disapproved hecause;

{The attorney for the Gommonwealth may require that the complaint, arrest warrant affidavit, or Both be approved by the attorney for the Commonwealth prior to
filing. See Pa.R.Crim.P. 507},

{Name of the attorney for the Commanweaitn) (Signature of the attorney for the Commonwealth) / (éaie)

1. DOUGLAS C. BRINK/TIMOTHY FENNELL 338/4179 : i
{Name of the Affiant) (PSPMPOETC -Assigned Affiant ID Number & Badge # |

of  Pennsylvania Office of Attorney General PA0222400 |

{Identify Department or Agency Represented and Political Subdivision) (Police Agency ORI Number)

do hereby state: (check appropriate box) 1

1. ®@ | accuse the above named defendant who lives at the address set forth above
[7 | accuse the defendant whose name is unknown to me but who is described as

[ 1 accuse the defendant whose name and popular designation or nickname are unknown to me and whom | have

therefore designated as John Doe or Jane Doe

with violating the penal laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania at [301] City Of Butler
(Subdwision Codey | (Placé-Foitical Subdivision)

in BUTLER County [10] on or about JANUARY 18, 2020 THRU OCTOBER 15, 2020
(County Code}

AR AT A  Pay FIER ' | " Pége lof _




POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Docket Number: Date Filed: __ OTN/LiveScan Number Complaintiincident Number
(R a0 | L S sy | R3S e BN6005117JS

First: o Mscrdle. ' Last:
Defendant Name: JODI SUE SHIREY

The acts committed by the accused are described below with each Act of Assembly or statute allegedly violated, if appropriate.

When there is more than one offense, each offense should be humbered chronologically.

(Set forth a brief summary of the facts sufficient to advise the defendant of the nature of the offense(s} charged. A citation fo the statute(s) allegedly violated,
without more, is not sufficient. [n a summary case, you must cite the specific section(s) and subsection(s) of the statute(s} or ordinance(s) allegedly violated.
The age of the victim at the time of the offense may be included if known. In addition, social security numbers and financial information {e.g. PINs) should not
be listed. If the identity of an account must be established, list only the last four digits. 204 PA.Code §§ 213.1 - 213.7.)

Inchoate | [[] Attempt E] solicitation [ Conspiracy Number of Victims Age 60 or Older
Offense 189071 A 18802 A 18 903
O |1 911 b3 ofthe | TITLE 18 1 F1
Leagy ~ Ofense Section Subsection PA Statute (Tille)  Counis Grage ~ OICOffense UCRINIBRS Code
PennDOT Data .
(if applicable) Accident Number [] Interstaie [ Safety Zone 1 Work Zone

Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance): CORRUPT ORGANIZATION-EMPLOYEE:

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: in that, between January 18, 2020 and October 15, 2020, the DEFENDANT, while employed by or
assoclated with an enterprise did conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprises’ affairs through a pattern of racketeering aciivity
as defined in 18 Pa.C.5.A, 911(h)(1). To Wit: the DEFENDANT did commit, cause to be committed, promote or facilitate the commission, aid or agree to aid
another in the planning or commission, and/or conspire to commit two or more of the criminal offenses defined in 18 Pa.C.S.A. 911{h)(1) all of which is in

violation of Section 911(b}(3) of the PA Crimes Code.

Incheate 3 Attempt [J Solicitation [} Conspiracy Number of Victims Age 60 or Older
Offense 18801 A 18902 A 18903
0o 2 911 b4 ofthe | TITLE 18 1 F1
Lead? Offense# Section Subsection PA Statuie (Title) Counts Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data Accident
(if applicable) Number 1 Interstate {] safety Zone [t Work Zane

" Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance}. CORRUPT ORGANIZAION CONSPIRACY TO VIOLATE 911 B1, 911 B2
OR 911 B3:

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense; In that, between January 18, 2020 and October 15, 2020, the DEFENDANT did agree with one or
more persons that they, or one or more of them, would engage in conduct which constitutes a violation of 18 Pa.C.5.A 911(b)(1), (2) or (3), that is, the
DEFENDANT did conspire and agree with Quinzal Powell, Desirae Feiti, Crystal Pakutz and/or others known and unknown that they, or one or more of them,
would conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, while employed by or asscciated with an enterprise in the conduct of such enterprises’ affairs through a
pattern of racketeering activity as defined in 18 Pa.C.5.A. 911(h)(1). To Wit: The DEFENDANT did conspire to commit two or more of the criminal offenses
defined in 18 Pa.C.5.A. 911{h}(1), all of which is in violation of Section 911(b)(4) of the PA Crimes Code.)

Inchoate ] Attempt [J Solicitation {71 Conspiracy Number of Victims Age 60 or Older
Offense 189071 A 18802 A 18 903
O |3 780-113 a(30) ofthe | TITLE 35 1 |F
Lead? Offense# Seclion Subsection PA Statute (Title) Counts Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDCT Data Accident
(if applicable) Number [ Interstate [ Safety Zone 1 Work Zone

Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance): DELIVERY OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE: THE CONTROLLED
SUBSTANCE, DRUG, DEVICE AND COSMETICS ACT, ACT 64 SECTION 13(A), CLAUSE 30(A) FELONY:

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that the above named Defendant from January 18, 2020 through October 15, 2020,
knowlIngly, Intentionally and urlawfully delivered fentanyl/heroin (Scheduled II/T) and the Defendant was not then and there licensed or registered as required
by the Act of the Assembly of the Commonwealthy of Pennsylvania, in violation of Section 780-113 (a)(30) of the PA Controlled Substance, Brug, Davice and

Cosmetics Act (F)

ARSI AL ww By FrIE Dano nf




POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Docket Number: Date Filed: OTN/LiveScan Number Complaint/lncident Number
(I 1752 YIs/Z1 | W 183082 | BN600511715
Defendant Name First: Middle! Last:

JODI SUE SHIREY

The acts committed by the accused are described below with each Act of Assembly or statute allegediy violated, if

appropriate. When there is more than one offense, each offense shouid be numbered chronologicalty.

(Set forth a brief summary of the facts sufficient to advise the defendant of the nature of the offense(s) charged. A citation to the statute{s) allegedly
violated, without more, Is not sufficient. In a summary case, you must cite the specific section(s) and subsection(s) of the statute(s) or ordinance(s)
allegedly violated. The age of the victim at the time of the offense may be included if known. In addition, social security numbers and financial information
{e.g. PINs} should not be listed. if the identity of an account must be established, list only the last four digits. 204 PA.Code §§ 213.1 - 213.7.) )

inchoate | [0 Attempt O Solicitation [l Conspiracy
Offense 18907 A 18902 A 18903
O 4 7512 A ofthe | TITLE 18 1 F3
Lead?  Offense# Section Subsection PA Statute (Title) Counis Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data - Agcident
(if applicable) Number O Interstate [] safety Zone [ work Zone

Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance): CRIMINAL USE OF A COMMUNICATION FACILITY- COMMISSION OF A FEL:

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that the above named Defendant, between January 18, 2020 and October 15, 2020, did
utilize a communication facility to commit, cause or facilitate the detvery of heroin/fentanyl, a Scheduie 1/II Controlled Substance in violation of Section

7512(a) of the PA Crimes Code

Inchoate | {1 Attempt [ Solicitation [l Conspiracy
Offense 18907 A 18802 A 18963
O !5 903 A(1) TTTLE 18 1 F
Lead?  Offense# Section Subsection PA Statute (Title) Counts Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDQOT Data Accident
(if applicable) Number O interstate O Safety Zone O Work Zone

Statute Description (include the name of statute or ord inance): CRIMINAL CONSPIRACY-ENGANGING:

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that, between January 18, 2020 and October 15, 2020, the DEFENDANT, with the intent of
promeating or facilitating the crimes of Delivery of & Contyolied Substance and/or Possession with Intent to Defiver a Controlied Substance, did conspire and
agree with Desirae Feitl and/or others known and unknown that they or one or more of them would engage In conduct constituting such crime or an attempt

or solicitation to commit such crime, In violation of Section 903(a)(1) of the PA Crimes Code.

Inchoate | [[] Attempt [ Solicitation [ Conspiracy
Offense 18901 A 18902 A 18 003
L - “h'e'
Lead?  Offensed# “Seclion | Subseciion PA Statute (Title) Counts Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data Accident
(if applicable) NUrmber [T Interstate [Tl Safely Zone 1 work Zone

Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance):

Acts of the accuse.d associated with this Offense:
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%5 POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

D cket‘Ny“rpbe*r D/atg_Fileg: P OTNILweScan Number Complaint/Incident Number
=) SRyl | K 28 A BNB005117JS
First; M|ddle ‘ Last:
Defendant Name: JODI SUE SHIREY

2. | ask that a warrant of arrest or a summons be issued and that the defendani be required to answer the charges | have
made.

3. | verify that the facts set forth in this complaint are true and correct to the best of my knowledge or information and
belief. This verification is made subject to the penalties of Section 4904 of the Crimes Code (18 Pa.C.S. § 4904) relating

to unsworn falsification to authorities.

4. This complaint consists of the preceding page(s) numbered 1 through ___

5. | certify that this filing complies with the provisions of the Case Records Public Access Policy of the Unified Judicial
System of Pennsylvania that require filing confidential information and documents differently that non-confidential

information and decuments.

The acts committed by the accused, as listed and hereafter, were against the peace and dignity of the. Commonwealth
of Pennsylvania and were contrary to the Act(s) of the Assembly, or in violation of the statutes cited. .-,
{Before a warrant of arrest can be issued, an affidavit of probable cause must be comp[eted sworn to- before the

issuing authority, and attached.)

APRIL 28, 2021 S
(Date}

AND NOW, on this date ;/é’? /4?(/7/575 /yj‘/ | certify that the complaint has been properly completed and verified.

An affidavit of probable cause must be completed before a warrant can be issued,

! (Signature of Affiant)

s
. - —— e
PSS A
SEAL

{Magisterial District Court Number} {Issuing Authority)
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AFFIDAVIT

Douglas Brink, Narcotics Agent, of the Pennsylvania Office of Attorney General, Bureau of
Criminal [nvestigations assigned to the Bureau of Narcotics Investigations and Timothy Fennell,
Chief County Detective, Butler County District Attorney's Drug Task Force being duly sworn
according to law, depose and say:

Your Affiants are empowered by law to conduct investigations of and to make arrests for
offenses involving violations of the‘Pennsylvania Crimes Code.

On April 13, 2021, the Forty-Sixth Statewide Investigating Grand Jury issued Presentment
No. 14, recommending that crimingl ch.arges_ l?e filed against Jodi Shirey for violations of the
Pennsylvania Crimes Code. The aforementioned Presentment was accepted by the Honorable
Anthony M. Mariani, Supervising Judge of the Forty-Fifth Statewide Investigating Grand Jury, by
Order dated April 14, 2021. A copy of the Presentment and the Order accepting the Presentment is
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.

Having read and reviewed the Presentment, and after having participated in this investigation
and considering all the facts and circumstances, your Affiants are adopting the Presentment and
incorporating it fully into this Affidavit of Probable Cause. Your Affiants aver that the testimony of
the individuals who appeared before the Forty-Sixth Stétewide Investigating Grand Jury is consistent
with the information contained within Presentment No.14 and the information developed within the
course of the investigation specified herein. Furthermore, Presentment No. 14 shows on its face that
it is based upon evidence which the Forty-Sixth Statewide Investigating Grand Jury reviewed and
evaluated which included sworn testimony of witnesses appearing before it and physical evidence

presented to it.




YVour Affiants have reviewed the evidence presented before the Forty-Sixth Statewide

Investigating Grand Jury and find that it comports with the findings of the investigation.

/{_, rﬁ-;_: o )1: Eay
Douglas Brink
Narcotics Agent
¢ _,r,-f"'fdf’( //_i:_,:i/*"’"
L / e A=
Tlmothy Fennell
Chief County Detective

e
SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED o e e
PN ///5'3/

BEFORE ME THIS 22 DAY

OF April ,2021




INTRODUCTION

We, the members of the Forty-Sixth Statewide Investigating Grand Jury, having received
and reviewed evidence pertaining to violations of the Controlied Substances, Drug, Device and
Cosmetic Act and the Crimes Code of Pennsylvania occurring in Butler County, Pennsylvania
pursuant to Notice of Submission of Investi gation No. 41, do hereby make the following findings

of fact and recommendation of charges.

FINDINGS OF FACT

The Grand Jury conducted an investigation into a criminal organization responsible for the
distribution of heroin/fentanyl in and around Butler County. The investigation revealed that from
January 18, 2020 through October 15, 2020, Quinzal Powell (“Powsll™) traveled from Philadelphia
to Butler County in order to deliver large quantities of the controlled substances. Powell then
cogspired with Desirae Feiti (“Feitl”) and Crystal Pakutz (“Pakutz”) to distribute the drugs to
others. It was determined that Feitl and Pakutz each had their own network of individuals to whom
they sold heroin/fentanyl. During the course of the investigation, it was also determined that when
Feitl was out of the country, Jodi Shirey (“Shirey”) assumed responsibility for Feitl’s role in the
organization. Finally, Brandi Zediker (“Zediker”) was found to be involved in the illegal
distribution of heroin/fentanyl.

In terms of the quantity of narcotics being trafficked during this time period, a conservative
estimate is that Powell transported approximately 1,030 bricks (1,030 grams) of heroin/fentanyl.
A conservative estimate of the heroin/fentany! subsequently sold by Feitl and Palcutz is 256 bricks
(256 grams) and 820 bricks (820 grams), respectively. Investigators also seized in excess of

$244,000.00 in U.S. currency suspected to be associated with the drug trafficking activity.




The Grand Jury heard testimony that members of law enforcement utilized various
investigative fechniques during the course of the investigation including electronic surveillance,
in-person surveillance, cellular telephone communications monitoring/trap and trace number
monitoring, and, GPS and cellular tower location tracking. Investigators also listened to recorded
prison telephone calls, execnted search warrants for fext message communications, utilized
confidential informants and sources, and conducted traffic stops. With respect to cellular
telephones, the Grand Jury learned that Feitl had one telephone that maintained the same number
throughout the investigation and was geperally only used for conversations with her boyfriend,
Eric Barlow (“Batlow™), Powell, and others close to her. Her second telephone - - which was
primarily used to conduct her drug fransactions - - changed numbers nine times throughout the
course of the investigation, For his patt, Powell maintained two telephones and used both for
conversations with Feitl and Pakutz. Both telephones changed numbers five times during the
course of the investigation. The Grand Jury heard testimony that changing telephone numbers is
comﬁlon for individuals who are trafficking narcotics in an attempt (0 conceal their activities from
law enforcement.

Powell to Desivae Feitl and Jodi Siirey

Cellular telephone communications between Feitl and Powell were constant throughout the
course of the investigation, increasing around the dates when Powell was traveling to and/or
present in Butler. Surveillance confirmed many of the meetings. Text messages detailed the
amount of narcotics Powell would be sup;ﬁlying on particular trips; and on one occasion, as noted
below, police stopped Powell’s car and recovered over 1,000 bags of fentanyl in a search. The

bags matched those fater found ina search of Feitl’s house.




Investigators were able to trace the path of the drugs Powell delivered to Feitl, Records
revealed that Feitl had daily communications with Shirey, Victoria Baptiste (“Baptiste™), Shannon
Winters (“Winters”), Cayla Cygan (“Cygen”), Rachel Barber (“Barber™), Chad Finucan
(“Finucan”) and others who were not identified. Multipte search warrants were obtained for
Feitl’s text messages and the results revealed thousands of conversations with the aforementioned
individuals concerning the illegal distribution of controlled substances. Most of the text messages.
utilized coded language concerning drug trafficking. This included using other words to describe
the drugs, texting only numbers to order 8 specific number of stamp bags and/or price, and, using
single words to direct the buyers to a meeting location.

Throughout the investigation, members of law enforcement observed Feitl meeting with
Baptiste, Winters, Shirey, Cygan, Barber and Finucan at various focations throughout Butler.
Some of Feitl's regular meeting places included the parking lots of the following establishments:
Save-A-Lot; the Clearview Mall; McDonald’s; the Pointe Plaza; and the Greater Bﬁﬂef Mart, At
cach of these meetings, Feitl met with the individual for a brief period of time and then both
vehicles left the parking lot. Text message conversations between Feitl and these individuals - -
occusring prior to and after the meetings - - confirmed that they were purchasing controlled
substances from Feitl. The chart below provides the date, location and the name of the individual

with whom Feitl met to sell drugs, as observed by investigators conducting surveillance.

DATE LOCATION INDIVIDUAL
PURCHASING DRUGS
February 2, 2020 Clearview Mall parking lot Shannon Winters
March 19,2020 McDonald’s parking lot in Victoria Baptiste and
the Greater Butler Mart Shannon Winters
March 25, 2020 Save-A-Lot parking lot at Rachel Barber and Shannon
Pullman Square Winters




April 21, 2020 Save-A-Lot parking Jot in Billy Abrams
Pullman Square

April 27, 2020 Clearview Mall Jodi Shirey and Shannon

Wintets

April 28, 2020 Point Plaza parking lot Chad Finucan

April 28, 2020 Rite Aid parking lot Shannon Winters

May 13, 2020 Save-A-Lot parking lot at Shannon Winters
Pullman Square

May 13, 2020 Hillvue Self Storage Jodi Shirey

June 4, 2020 Intersection of Eau Claire Cayla Cygan

Street and Fifth Street

September 11, 2020 Save-A-Lot parking lot in Jodi Shirey

Pullman Square

The Grand Jury heard evidence that Baptiste had been purc;hasing heroin/fentanyl from
Feitl on a daily basis for approximately two to three years. She was buying 10 to 20 bags per day.
Baptiste testified that she would text Feit] the number of bags that she wanted and then wait for
Feitl to send her a message regarding the meeting location. Baptiste stated that she routinely met
Feitl at the Save-A-lot or McDonald®s where the two would complete the transaction in the parking
lot.

The Grand Jury also heard testimony that Cygan began purchasing heroin/fentanyl from
Feitl in March or April 2020 and that she continued to purchase from her until sometime in
September of that year. Cygan stated that she purchased anywhere from 10 stamp bags to two
bricks! from Feitl on a daily basis. She would often meet Feitl at the Save-A-Lot or McDonald’s

where the two would complete the transaction in the parking lot.

| The Grand Jury learned that there are typically ten bags of heroin/fentanyl in a bundle and five
bundles in a brick. A brick usually weighs one to one and a half grams.




The Grand Jury lemned that Winters began purchasing heroin/fentanyl from Feitl, on a
daily basis, sometime in May 2019. Winters purchased one or two bundles per day, occasionally
buying a brick. Winters met with Feitl at the Clearview Mall, Walmart, Greater Butler Mart and
other locations and they would compiete the transaction in the parking lot.

On October 2, 2019, a search warrant was executed at Barlow’s residence in McKeesport,
Allegheny County where 150 bricks of heroin were seized. Barlow was arrested and then
transferred to the Butler County Prison on a detainer. On November 15, 2019 at 10:54 a.m.,
Barlow placed a recorded call to Feitl from the prison. During the call, Feitl told Barlow that she
was “pissed.” She explained that she heard a garbage truck outside of her residence at 2:45 a.m.,
woke up, and assumed it was the police coming to her house. Feitl stated to Barlow, "/ think you
already know what happened . . . ahh, bunch of shif went down the toiler.” Feitl then elaborated
by stating, “Zjust fu*king, I just lost a bunch of money . . . 1 just fu*ked myself for real” meaning
that she had flushed the controlled substances that she had prepared to sell.

On November 18, 2019, in another recorded call between Feitl and Bariow, the two
discussed a search watrant that was executed at a residence in Butler that day where Shirey was
present. Feitl told Barlow that “Jodi got the car impounded with my God damn money in it”.

On February 2, 2020, in another recorded call to Barlow, Feitl stated, “The fu*king
township cops are driving around . . . now [ can’t leave. This is real fu*king stressful, this Is
making me real sick fo my stomach right now. He's definitely watching. I can’t be on the phone
right now and deal with this shif.”

On March 20, 2020, during a recorded call between Feitl and Barlow, Feitl was heafd
talking to a female in the background. Feitl stated, “What the fu*k do I look like, a mother fu*king

gas station, go get cash.” Teitl then explained to Barfow that “the bifch tried fo pay me with a




lottery ticket.” Priot to this meeting, there were six calls and/or text messages between Feitl and
Basber. Following Feitl’s directive to “go ger cash,” there were an additional three calls and/or
text messages between Feitl and Barber.

On Match 8, 2020, Feitl flew from Pittsburgh to Miami and thereafter boarded a cruise
ship. Through GPS tracking, it was confirmed that she was out of the country until March 15, 2020
when she arrived in Miami and flew back to Pittsburgh, While Feitl was out of the country, Shirey
was in charge of handling Feitl’s “business.” Through a review of text messages and use of video
surveillance, it was determined that Shiréy communicated with at least two of Feitl’s customers -
- Winter.s and Baptiste - - and subsequently sold heroin/fentanyl to them. Both Winters and
Baptiste were instructed by Feitl to contact Shirey in order to purchase the narcotics. Text messages
and video surveillance revealed that Winters purchased heroin/fentanyl from Shirey on at least six
occasions for a total of 10 bundles or 100 stamps bags. Baptiste also purchased drugs from Shirey
on at least two occasions while Feitl was away.

On May 9, 2020, members of the Butler City Police Department arrested Winters for
driving under the influence and recovered 15 full stamp bags and five empty stamp bags. Winters
told the officers that she had purchased the drugs from “Dez” (Feitl). The drugs were subsequently
submitted to the Pennsylvania State Police Greensburg Regional Laboratory (“PSP Laboratory™)
for analysis. The results revealed the presence of heroin, a schedule I controlled substance, and
fentanyl, a schedule II controlled substance. Text messages between Feitl and Winters prior to her
traffic stop confirmed that Winters had, in fact, ordered 20 stamp bags from Feitl. |

On July 28, 2020, officers were conducting surveillance in the parking lot at the Greater
Butler Mart in Butler Township when they observed Winters driving up and down the lanes of

parked vehicles very slowly. Winters appeated to be checking for the presence of surveillance/law




enforcement. She then parked on the north end of the lot, two rows south of the McDonald’s, Feitl
then drove into the parking lot, stopping adjacent to Winter's vehicle, Winters proceeded to gel
out of her velicle and go to the passenger side window of Feitl's vehicle, Winters then reached in
and made an exchange with Feitl, Winters returned to her vehicle and Feifl left the lot. Next,
Winters moved her vehicle and parked beside the McDonald’s. When she got out of her vehicle,
she was approached by the officers. Upon seeing them, she held out two bundles of heroin/fentany]
and stated, "She just rolled up on me and gave me these.” The drugs were subinitted to the PSP
Laboratory and tested positive for heroin and fentanyl. Leading up to this purchase, there were
seven text messages and/or calls between Feitl and Winters.

-On October 15, 2020, a traffic stop was initiated on Renaissance Drive in Butler County.
Powell was identified as the sole occupant of the vehicle, A scarch of the vehicle revealed two
knotted baggies containing a combined total of approximately 1,149 stamp bags. The drugs were
submiited to the PSP Laboratory and tested positive for fentanyl, weighing 24.6 grams.

On October 15, 2020, Feitl was taken into custody on existing warrants while operéting
her 2011 GMC Terrain. Seven bundles of suspected heroin and/or fentanyl were recovered from
her person. The 66 stamp bags were submitted to the PSP Laboratory where testing revealed the
presence of 1.6 grams of fentanyl. A warrant was thereafter obtained to search the 2011 GMC
Terrain. A search of that vehicle resulted in the seizure of the following: $533.00 in U.S, cutrency;
Nine deposit slips between the dates of March 16, 2020 and October 13, 2020 totaling $13,332.00
for First National Bank Account # 95044008; a Huntington Bank debit card in the name of Feitl,

and, a US Bank debit card in the name of Feitl.

Following Feitl’s arrest, a search warrant was also executed at her residence in Butler.

Investigators seized of 1,121 stamp bags of suspected heroin/fentanyl, $10,220.00 in U.S. currency




and other drug-related items. The stamp bags were submitted to the PSP Laboratory where testing
confirmed the presence of 27.4 grams of fentanyl.

Search warrants were also executed at two of Feitl’s storage facilities at Hillvue Storage in
Butler: D. Up 7 and B-6. The search conducted at D. Up 7 resulted in the seizure of a black safe
that contained approximately $234,000.00 in U.S. currency, the majority of which consisted of
$100.00 bills.

Narcotics Agent Douglas Brink (“NA Brink™) of the Pennsylvania Office of Aftorney
General informed the Grand Jury that he spoke with: a representatives at Dollar Bank who advised
that Feitl’s account had been flagged and subsequently closed due to concerns about money
laundering. They stated that Feitl routinely brought in small dollar bills and asked that they be
converted into $100.00 bills,

Powell to Crystal Pakutz to Brandi Zediler

Pakutz appeared before the Grand Jury and festified that she began purchasing
heroin/fentanyl from Powell, whom she knows as “Slim,” in March or April 2020. Pakutz stated
that she was broke at the time and decided to “work” for him by selling heroin.

Pakutz testified that for the first few weeks, she was purchasing two bricks (100 stamp
bags) each time when Powell came to town. After that, she began purchasing 20 to 30 bricks per
trip, and, sometime in June or July, she began purchasing 20 to 30 grams of heroin/fentanyl in a
single day. She stated that Powell had also provided her with a large quantity of empty stamp bags
during one of his trips. Pakutz fold the Grand Jury that she lived at the Holiday Inn Express in
Butler for approximately one and one-half months prior to her arrest on October 1, 2020. Powell
would stay at the hotel when he was in town. She advised that sometimes he would stay in-his

own room and other times he would stay with her in her room.




Palutz advised that she sold the heroin/fentany! that she purchased from Powell to vatious
other individuals on a regular basis. According to Pakuiz, she had three clients who purchased
from her on a daily basis: Brandi Zediker (“Zediker™), Destiny Stemumerich (“Stemmerich™) and
Christian Manny (“Manny™), Zediker purchased five grams per day, every day, from March or
April unti] sometime in July or August when she began purchasing five grams every other day
until October. In July or August, Pakutz advised that she also began selling to Stemmerich and
Manny, She stated that they each purchased one or two bricks, every day or every other day.
Pakutz stated that she also sold to other individuals, but not as regularly as she sold to Zediker,
Stemmerich and Manny. Pakutz advised that she would sometimes “front” these three individuals
the controlled substances. She explained that-after she began purchasing drugs from Powell in
grams rather than stamp bags, she would provide empty stamp bags with the heroin/fentanyl to
Zediker, Stemmerich and Manny. They would then re-package it, sell it and bring Pakutz the
money that they owed to her, Pakutz also Itold the Grand Jury that, on occasion, Powell had
provided her with illegal drugs - - other than heroin/fentanyt - - to sell.

The Grand Jury learned that a review of telephone records and text messages confirmed
that Pakutz and Powell communicated on a regular basis and that Pakutz frequently communicated
with Zediker, Stemmerich and Manny. Pakutz also communicated with multiple other individuals,
discussing the distribution of controlled substances.

On July 6, 2020, officers met with a confidential informant (“CI”’} in order to conduct a
controlied purchase of two bundles of heroin from Zediker, The CI was searched prior to the
purchase and found to be free of controlled substances, money and weapons. The CI contacted
Zediker via telephone and arranged to meet at her (Zediker’s) residence. The CI was followed to

the residence and was wnder constant surveillance until entry into the home. A short time later,




the CI left the residence and returned to officers where he/she turned over 20 stamp bags, advising
that he/she had purchased the heroin from Zediker. The CI stated that Zediker had refrieved a
larger bag of heroin from her bedroom and bagged the individual stamp bags in the presence of
the CL. The drugs were subsequently submitted to the PSP Laboratory where testing revealed the
presence of less than 1 gram of fentanyl, or, approximately .019 grams of fentany! per bag,

The Grand Jury learned that on September 10, 2020, Detective Timothy Fennell of the
Butler County District Attorney’s Office was conducting surveillance of Powell at the Holiday Inn
Express when he observed Lorraine Zediker (“L Zediker™), a known heroin user, arﬁve at the rear
of the hotel. Pakutz exited the hotel and met with L. Zediker for a brief period of time. Both of

_them then departed in L., Zediker’s Jeep Cherokee, Pakutz was observed coming and going from

the hotel several times on September 10 and 11, 2020.

A review of text messages from Pakutz’s mobile telephoﬁe revealed that from September
9 through 11, 2020, Pakutz delivered heroin/fentanyl, crack cocaine and methamphetamine to at
Jeast 10 different people. The quantities varied by person from a “bun” (10 stamp bags), a “whole,”
a “brick” or a “breezy” (50 stamp bags) to multiple grams of heroin/fentanyl. At one point during
these conversations Pakutz told multiple customers that “My Ppls is here at the Telly(Hotel) wit
me & they have some light brovn shyt; bui IDK how it is. They actually want me {o have my Ppl
fy it.” The text messages intercepted indicated that Zediker arranged to trade “23 20°s " (pills)
with Pakutz for a “whole one, ¥ meaning a brick of heroin/fentanyl, on September 10, 2020 as was
observed thrﬁugh swveillance.

On October 1, 2020, Pakutz was detained and placed in the Builer County Prison on a
bench warrant from Allegheny County. At 11:31 a.m., Pakutz placed a recorded telephone call to

her mother. During this call, she instructed her mother to go to the room and get the light pink
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book bag. At the end of the call, Pakutz stated: “Male sure you get everything out of that room

especially that book bag ASAP.”

Officers contacted management at the Holiday Inn Express and confirmed that Pakutz had
been staying in Room 206. Surveillance video from the rear of the hotel also confirmed that Pakutz
stayed there on the night of September 30, 2020 into October 1, 2020. A search warrant was
subsequently executed on Room 206 and a bag of suspected fentanyl, a scale, empty stamp bags
and other packaging materials were recovered. The drugs were submitied to the PSP Laboratory
where testing revealed the presence of 8,67 grams of fentanyl.

Altogether, Powell made at least 33 trips from Philadelphia to Butler, between January 18,
2020 and October 15, 2020, to detiver illegal drugs to Feitl and Pakutz. The dates of Powell’s trips
are as follows:

e January 18— 19, 2020
o January 25 - 26, 2020
e February 1 -4, 2020

e February 13 — 14, 2020
‘¢ February 22-23, 2020
o February 28 — March 2, 2020
“e  March 7-11, 2020

e March 15 -16, 2020

e March 2021, 2020

« March 25 — 26, 2020

e April 12,2020

e April 6 -8, 2020

I1




April 9-12, 2020
April 14 -17, 2020
April 21 - 23, 2020
May 2 -5, 2020
May 9 — 10, 202.0
May 14 — 16, 2020
May 20-22, 2020
May 25 - 27, 2020
May 30 — June 1, 2020
June 4-6, 2020
June 12 — 14, 2020
June 26 - 28, 2020
July 5-6,2020
July 13 — 14, 2020

July 26 — 28, 2020

August 2, 2020 (round trip in one day)

Augdst 9, 2020 (round trip in one day)

August 23 -25, 2020

September 9-11, 2020

September 16 — 18, 2020

September 30, 2020 (round trip all in one day)

October 15, 2020
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NA Brink informed the Grand Jury that he was able to estimate the quantities of
heroin/fentanyl that Powell, Feitl and Pakutz were selling during the course of investigation based
upon witness interviews, narcotics seizures and text message conversations, From January 18,
2020 through October 15, 2020, he estimated that, on the conservative end, Powell transported
approximately 1,030 bricks (1,030 grams) of heroin/fentanyl from Philadelphia to Butler County
~ for Feitl and Pakutz, From January 18, 2020 through October 15, 2020, he estimated that, on the
conservative end, Feitl sold approximately 256 bricks (256 grams) of heroin/fentanyl and that

Palaitz sold approximately 820 bricks (820 grams) of heroin/fentanyl from Aprit 1, 2020 through

October 1, 2020,
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COMMONWEALTH OF FENNSYLVANJA
COUNTY OF:BUTLER j,{‘ R R I
Magisterial District Number; 50-5-03 "

MDJ: Hon. William T. Fullerton
Address: 227 West Cunningham Street

POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT
COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA

Butler, PA 16003-1208

Telephone: (724)431-4854

& VS,
DEFEN DANT (NAME and ADDRESS):
QUINZAL SHAMAR POWELL
First Name Middle Name Last Name Gen

1432 West Rockland St
Philadelphia, PA 19141

NCIC Extradition Code Type
$-Felony Full [] 5-Felony Pending Extradition [] C-Misdemsanor Surrounding Staies [ Distance:
[} 2-Felony Limited [7] 6-Felony Pending Extradition Determ.  [] D-Misdemeanor No Extradition
[} 3-Felony Surrounding States { ] A-Misdemeanor Fuli [] E-Misdemeanor Pending Extradition
[} 4-Felony No Extradition [.] B-Misdemeanor Limited [] F-misdemeanar Pending Extradition
DEFENDANT IDENTIFICATION INFORMATION
Dogket Number o Date F:Ied O,BNlej an Number — Complaint/incident Number Request Lab Services?
=y TR L1 . 'g BN60051170P O Yes [Ino
GENDER bos 9/14/ 1990 | poB | Adaipoe |/ Co-Defendant(s) []
Male First Name Middle Name Last Nams Gen,
] Female AKA
RACE ] White [ Asian Black [_] Native American [ unkiown
ETHMNICITY [T Hispanic Nan-Hispanic [ Unknown
) [1 GrY (Gray) [1 RED (Red/Aubn.) [ sDY (Sandy) [] BLU (Blug) [ PLE {Purple} X BRO (Brown)
giigr (%) BLK (Btack) [ ONG (Orange) [T WHI (White) [ XXX {UnkBald) ] GRN (Green) T PNK (Pink)
] 8LN {Blonde / Sirawberry)
Eye 7] BLK (Black) L1 LU (Biue) (4 BRO (Brown) [[] GRN (Green) [(1 GRY {Gray)
Color [} HAZ (Hazei) [ MAR (Maroon) [] PNK (Pinl) [ mMuL (Mutticolored) [ XXX (Unknown)
DNA [JYES [INO | DNA Location WEIGHT (Ibs.)
FBI Number f MNU Number 140
Defendant Fingerprinted | [ YES [J NO Ft. HEIGHT In.
Fingerprint Classification: | 5 j 9
DEFENDANT VEHICLE INFORMATION

State | Haz Registrafion Comm’[ Veh. School Veh, [ ] | Oth. NCIC Veh. Code Reg.
Plate # "l‘jat Sticker (MMIYY) [/ Ind. [ | same as
VIN Year Make Maodel Style Color 0

Office of the attorney for the Commonwealth [ Approved [ Disapproved because:

(Tne atiorney for the Commonwealth may require that the complaint,
filing. See Pa,R.Crim.P. 507). '

arrest warrant affidavit, or both be approved by the attorney for the Commonwealth prior to

{Name of the attorney for the Commonwealth) {Signature of the atiorney for the Commoenwealth) —/—(—I/S;;—*
1._DOUGLAS C. BRINK/TIMOTHY FENNELL 338 ‘ |
(Name of the Affiant) (PSPIMPOETC -Assigned Affiant ID Number & Badge # | :
of Pennsylvania Office of Attorney General PA0222400 |
(Identify Department or Agency Represented and Political Subdivision} {Police Agency ORI Number)
| do hereby state: (check appropriate box) '
1. K | accuse the above named defendant who lives at the address set forth above

[ t accuse the defendant whose name is unknown to me but who is described as

7 | accuse the defendant whose name and popular designation or nickname are unknown to me and whom | have

therefore desighated as John Doe ot Jane Doe

with violating the penal laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania at [301]

City Of Butler

ace-Folltica

(Susdwision Codey  ( UBTWVISICH

in BUTLER County [10]

{County Code)

on or about JANUARY 18, 2020 THRU OCTOBER 15, 2020
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POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

' Dogket Number: ate Filed: . OTN/LiveScan Number Complaint/incident Number
(2.0 2\ | P | P 22 om iy BNB005117QP
. First: t Middle: Last:
Defendant Name: QUINZAL SHAMAR POWELL

The acts committed by the accused are described below with each Act of Assembly or statute allegedly violated, if appropriate.

When there is more than one offense, each offense should be numbered chronologically.

(Set forth a brief summary of the facts sufficient to advise the defendant of the nature of the offense(s) charged. A citation to the statute(s) allegedly violated,
without more, Is not sufficient. In a summary case, you must clte the specific section(s) and subsection{s) of the statute(s} or ordinance(s) allegedly violated.
The age of the victim at the time of the offense may be included If known. In addition, social security numbers and financial information {e.g. PiNs) should not
be listed. If the identity of an account must be established, list only the last four digits. 204 PA.Gode §§ 213.1 - 213.7.)

Inchoate | [] Attempt [.] Solicitation [] Conspiracy Number of Victims Age 60 or Older
Offense 18901 A 18 902 A 18 903
O |1 911 b3 ‘ofthe | TITLE 18 1 |FL
Lead? ~ OMe Section Subsection PA Statute (Title) Counts Grade WCIC Offense UCRINIBRS Code
PennDOT Data .
; - z
(if applicable) Accident Number ] Interstate [3 Safety Zone [l work Zone

Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance). CORRUPT ORGANIZATION-EMPLOYEE:

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense; In that, between January 18, 2020 and October 15, 2020, the DEFENDANT, while employed by or
associated with an enterprise did conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprises” affairs through a pattern of racketeering aciivity
as defined in 18 Pa.C.S.A. 911(h)(1). To Wit: the DEFENDANT did commit, cause to be committed, promote or faciiitate the commission, aid or agree to aid
another in the planning or commission, and/or conspire to commit two or more of the criminal offenses defined in 18 Pa.C.5.A. 911(h}(1), all of which is in
violation of Section 911(b)(3) of the PA Crimes Code.

Inchoate [] Attempt [ solicitation [ Conspiracy Number of Victims Age 60 or Older
Offense 18 907 A 18902 A 18 803
O 2 911 b4 “ofthe | TITLE 18 1 Fi
lLead? Offense# Seclion Subsection PA Statute (Tille) Counts Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data Accident
’ (if applicable) NuUmber [ Interstate [ safety Zone [J Work Zene

" Statute Description (include the riame of statute or ordinance): CORRUPT ORGANIZAION- CONSPIRACY TO VIOLATE 911 B1, 811 B2
OR 911 B3:

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense; In that, between January 18, 2020 and October 15, 2020, the DEFENDANT did agree with one or |
more persons that they, or one or more of them, would engage in conduct which constitutes a violation of 18 Pa.C.5.A 911(b)(1), {2} or (3), that is, the

DEFENDANT did conspire and agree with Desirae Feitl, Crystal Pakutz, Jodi Shirey and/or others known and unknown that they, or one or more of them, would
conduct or participate, directly or indirectty, while employed by or associated with an enterprise in the conduct of such enterprises’ affairs through a pattern of
racketeering activity as defined in 18 Pa.C.5.A. 911¢h){1). To Wit: The DEFENDANT did conspire to commit two or more of the criminal offenses defined in 18
Pa.C.S.A. 911(h)(L), all of which is in violation of Section 911(b}(4) of the PA Crimes Code.) b

Inchoate [1 Attempt ] Solicitation [] Conspiracy Number of Victims Age 60 or Older
Offense 18901 A 18902 A 18903 -
0 |3 780-113 a(30)  |'ofthe | TITLE 35 1 F .
Lead? Offlense# Section Subsection PA Statute (Title) Counis Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data Accident '
(i applicable) Nurmber [1 Interstate ] Safety Zone [J work Zene

Statute Description {include the name of statute or ordinance): DELIVERY OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE: THE CONTROLLED
SUBSTANCE, DRUG, DEVICE AND COSMETICS ACT, ACT 64 SECTION 13(A), CLAUSE 30(A) FELONY:

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that the above named Defendan, from January 18, 2020 through October 15, 2020,
knowingly, intentionally and unlawfully delivered fentanyl/hercin {Scheduled II/1} and the Defendant was not then and there licensed or registered as required
by the Act of the Assembly of the Commonwealth of Pennsyivania, in violation of Section 780-113 {a)(30} of the PA Controlled Substance, Drug, Device and
Cosmetics Act (F)

ROPC 43175 — Rev, 7/18 - B | | Page __of __
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POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Degket Number: D.e/n’ge Filed: y . OTNILiveSlcan Number Complaint/incident Number

OO Doy Uy o Ul o2, oS BNG005117QP

Def;n dant Name Fifst: i Middle: Last; -
QUINZAL SHAMAR POWELL

The acts committed by the accused are described below with each Act of Assembly or statute allegedly violated, if

appropriate. VWhen there is more than one offense, each offense shoutd be numbered chronologically.
(Set forth a brief summary of the facts sufficient to advise the defendant of the nature of the offense(s) charged. A citation to the statute(s} allegediy
violated, without more, is not sufficient. In a summary case, you must cite the specific section{s) and subsection(s} of the statute(s) or ordinance(s})
allegedly violated. The age of the victim at the time of the offense may be included if known. In addition, social security numbers and financial information

{e.q. PINs) should not be listed. If the identity of an account must be established, list only the last four digits, 204 PA.Code §§ 213.1 - 213.7.)

Inchoate | [ Attempt [[] Solicitation [3 Conspiracy
Offense 18901 A 16902 A 18 803
0 |4 780-113 A(30) ofthe | TITLE 35 1 F
Lead?  Offense# Seclion Subsection PA Statute (Title) Counts Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data Accident
(if applicable) Number 1 Interstate [l safety Zone 0 Work Zone

Statute Description {include the name of statute or ordinance): POSSESSION WITH INTENT TO DELIVER A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE: THE
CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE, DRUG, DEVICE AND COSMETICS ACT, ACT 64 SECTION 13(A), CLAUSE 30{A) FELONY:

Cosmetics Act (F)

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that the above named Defendant did on or about October 15, 2020, knowingly, intentionally
and unlawfully possessed with the intent to deliver fentanyl (Scheduled II) and the Defendant was not then and there licensed or registered as required by
the Act of the Assembly of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, In violation of Saction 780-113 (a)(30) of the PA Controlled Substance, Drug, Device and

Inchoate | [ Atternpt [ Solicitation [ Conspiracy
Offense 18 901 A 18902 A 18 803
O |5 7512 A ofthe | TITLE18 |1 F3 . |
Lead?  Offense# Seclion Subsection PA Statute (Title) Counis Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data Accident
{if applicable) Number [ Interstate [] Safety Zone £l Work Zone

Statute Description {include the name of statute or ordinance): CRIMINAL USE OF A COMMUNICATION FACILITY- COMMISSION OF A FEL:

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that the above named Defendant, between January 18, 2020 and October 15, 2020, did
utilize a communication facility to commit, cause or facilitate the deivery of heroin/fentanyl, a Schedule I/1I Controlled Substance in violation of Section

7512(a) of the PA Crimes Code

Inchoate | BJ Attempt [T soticitation [] Conspiracy
Cffense 18907 A 18902 A 18 903
0|6 903 A(1) | TITLE 18 1 F
Lead?  Offense# Sectlion Subsection PA Statute (Title) Counts Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data Accident
(if applicable) Number [1 interstate [ safety Zone 1 wark zone

Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance): CRIMINAL CONSPIRACY-ENGANGING: -

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that, between January 18, 2020 and October 15, 2020, the DEFENDANT, with the intent of
promoting or facilitating the crimes of Delivery of a Controlled Substance and/or Possession with Intent to Defiver a Controlled Substance, did conspire and
agree with Desirae Feitl, Crystal Pakutz, Jodi Shirey, Brandi Zediker andfor others known and unknown that they or one or more of them would engage in
conduct constituting such crime or an attempt or solicitation to commit such crime, in viclation of Section 903{(a)(1) of the PA Crimes Code. -

AOPC 412A — Rev, 09/12
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%74 POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Dgocket Number: Date F|Eed __ OTN/LiveSdan Number Complaint/incident Number
(_,,;) o AL L1285 20 2 AR IR BNB005117QP
befendant N ' Flrst ‘Middle: Last:

erendant rame: QUINZAL SHAMAR POWELL

2. | ask that a warrant of arrest or a summons be issued and that the defendant be required to answer the charges | have
made.

3. | verify that the facts set forth in this complaint are true and correct to the best of my knowledge or information and
helief. This verification is made subject to the penalties of Section 4904 of the Crimes Code (18 Pa.C.S. § 4904) relating

to unsworn falsification fo authorities.

4. This complaint consists of the preceding page(s} numbered 1 through __

5. { certify that this filing complies with the provisions of the Case Records Public Access Policy of the Unified Judicial
System of Pennsylvania that require filing confidential information and documents differently that non-confidential

information and documents.

The acts committed by the accused, as listed and hereafter, were against the peace and dignity of the Commenwealth
of Pennsylvania and were contrary to the Act( ) of the Assembly, or in violation of the statutes cited. "7

issuing authority, and attached.)

APRIL 28, 2021

(S!gnature of Affiant)

{Date)

AND NOW, on this date 975 ALl D) | certify that the complzint has been propertly compieted and verified.

An affidavit of probable cause must be completed before a warrant can be issued.

; e ,.// -
d Wy
{Magisterial District Court Number) (Issuing Authority)

H
{1
o
i

AOPC 4134 — Rev. 7/18 ' ' -  Page_ of




AFFIDAVIT

Douglas Brink, Narcotics Agent, of the Pemsylvaﬁa Office of Attorney General, Bureau of
Criminal Investigations assigned to the Bureau of Narcotics Investigations and Timothy Fennell,
Chief County Detective, Butler County District Attorney's Drug Task Force being duly sworn
according to law, depose and say:

Your Affiants are empowered by law to conduct investigations of and to make arrests for
offenses involving violations of the Pennsylvania Crimes Code.

On April 13, 2021, the Forty-Sixth Statewide Investigatiﬁg Grand Jury 1ssued Presentment
No. 14, recommending that criminal charges be filed against Quinzal Powell for violations of the
Pennsylvania Crimes Code. The aforementioned Presentment was accepted by the Honorable
Anthony M. Mariani, Supervising Judge of the Forty-Fifth Statewide Investigating Grand Jury, by
Order dated April 14, 2021. A copy of the Presentment and the Order accepting the Presentment is
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.

Having read and reviewed the Presentment, and after having participated in this investigation
and constdering all the facts and circumstances, your Afflants are adopting the Presentment and
incorporating it fully into this Affidavit of Probable Cause. Your Affiants aver that the testimony of
the individuals who appeared before the Forty-Sixth Statewide Investigating Grand Jury is consistent
with the information contained within Presentment No.14 and the information developed within the
course of the investigation specified herein, Furthermore, Presentment No. 14 shows on its face that
it is based upon evidence which the Forty-Sixth Statewide Investigating Grand Jury reviewed and

evaluated which included sworn testimony of witnesses appearing before it and physical evidence

presented to it.




Your Affiants have reviewed the evidence presented before the Forty-Sixth Statewide

Investigating Grand Jury and find that it comports with the findings of the investigation.

-

R A G
Douglas Brink

Narcotics Agent

et - -C\W-_ o
( - /}"Lr-l"f” il

SR /" .’/{.- -
Timothy Fennell
Chief County Detective

SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED S T 17/

REFOREME THIS « & DAY

OF April , 2021




INTRODUCTION

We, the members of the Forty-Sixth Statewide Investigating Grand Jury, having received
and reviewed evidence pertaining to violations of the Controlled Substances, Drug, Device and
Cosmetic Act and the Crimes Code of Pennsylvania occurting in Butler County, Pennsylvania
pursuant to Notice of Submission of Investigation No. 41, do herebf make the following findings

of fact and recommendation of charges.

FINDINGS OF FACT:

The Grand Jury conducted an investigation into a criminal organization responsible for the
distribution of heroin/fentany! in and around Butler County. The investigation revealed that from
January 18, 2020 through October 15, 2020, Quinéal Powell (“Powell”) traveled frofn Philadelphia
to Butler County in order to deliver large quantities of the controlled substances, Powell then
conspired with Desirae Feitl (“Feitl”) and Crystal Pakuiz (“Pakutz”) to distribute the drugs to
others. It was determined that Feitl and Pakutz each had their own network of individuals to whom
 they sold heroin/fentanyl, During the course of the investigation, it was also determined that when
Feitl was out of the country, Jodi Shirey (“Shirey”) assumed responsibility for Feitl’s role in the
organization. Finally, Brandi Zediker (“Zediker”) was found to be involved in the illegal
distribution of heroin/fentanyl.

In termns of the quantity of narcotics being trafficked during this time period, a conservative
estimate is that Powell transported approxﬁnately 1,030 bricks (1,030 grams) of heroin/fentanyl.
A conservative estimate of the heroin/fentanyl subsequently sold by Feitl and Pakutz is 256 bricks
(256 grams) and 820 bricks (820 grams), respectively. Investigators also seized in excess of

$244,000.00 in U.S. currency suspected to be associated with the drug trafficking activity.




The Grand Jury heard testimony that members of law enforcement utilized various

investigative techniques during the course of the investigation including electronic surveillance,

in-person sutveillance, cellular telephone communications monitoring/trap and trace number

monitoring, and, GPS and cellular tower location tracking. Investigators also listened to recorded
prison telephone calls, executed search warrants for text message communications, utilized
confidential informants and sources, and conducted traffic stops. With respect to cellular
telephones, the Grand Jury learned that Feitl had one telephone that maintained the same number
throughout the investigation and was generally only used for conversations with her boyfriend,
Eric Barlow (“Barlow”), Powell, and others close to her. Her second telephone - - which was
primarily used to conduct her drug transactions - - changed numbers nine times throughout the
course of the investigation. For his part, Powell maintained two telephones and used both for
conversations with Feitl and Pakutz. Both telephones changed numbers five times during the
course of the investigation. The Grand Jury heard testimony that changing telephone numbers is
common for individuals who are trafficking narcotics in an attempt to conceal their activities from
law enforcement.
Powell to Desirae Feitl and Jodi Shirey

Cellular telephone communications between Feitl and Powell were constant throughout the
course of the investigation, increasing around the dates when Powell was traveling to and/or
present in Butler, Surveillance confirmed many of the meetings. Text messages detailed the
amount of narcotics Powell would be supplying on particular trips; and on one occasion, as noted
below, police stopped Powell’s car and recovered over 1,000 bags of fentanyl in a search. The

bags matched those later found in a search of Feitl’s house.




Investigators were able to trace the path of the drups Powell delivered to Feitl. Records
revealed that Feitl had daily communications with Shirey, Victoria Baptiste (“Bapliste”), Shannon
Winters (“Winters™), Cayla Cygan (“Cygan”), Rachel Barber (“Barber”), Chad Finucan
(“Finucan”) and others who were not identified. Multiple search warrants were obtained for
Feitl’s text messages and the results revealed thousands of conversations with the aforementioned
individuals concerning the illegal distribution of controlled substances, Most of the text messages
utilized coded language concerning drug trafficking. This included using other words to describe
the drugs, texting only numbers to order a specific number of stamp bags and/or price, and, using
single words to direct the buyers to a meeting location.

Throughout the investigation, members of law enforcement observed Feitl meeting with
Baptiste, Wintets, Shirey, Cygan, Barber and Finucan at various locations throughout Butler.
Some of Feitl’s regular meeting places included the parking lots of the following establishments:
Save-A-Lot; the Clearview Mall; McDonald’s, the Pointe Plaza; and the Greater Butler Mart. At
cach of these meetings, Feitl met with the individual for a brief period of time and then both
vehicles left the ﬁarking Jot. Text message conversations between Feitl and these individuals - -
occutring prior to and after the meetings - - confirmed that they were purchasing controlled
substances from Feitl. The chart below provides the date, location and the name of the individual

with whom Feitl met to sell drugs, as observed by investigators conducting surveillance.

DATE LLOCATION INDIVIDUAL
PURCHASING DRUGS
February 2, 2020 -Clearview Mall parking lot Shannon Winters
March 19, 2020 McDonald’s parking lot in Victoria Baptiste and
the Greater Butler Mart Shannon Winters
March 25, 2020 Save-A-Lot parking lot at Rachel Barber and Shannon
Pullman Square Winters




April 21, 2020

Save-A-Lot parking lot in
Pullman Square

Billy Abrams

April 27, 2020

Clearview Mall

Jodi Shirey and Shannon
Winters

April 28, 2020

Point Plaza parking lot

Chad Finucan

April 28, 2020

Rite Aid parking lot

Shannon Winters

May 13, 2020

Save-A-Lot parking lot at
Pullman Square

Shannon Winters

May 13, 2020 Hillvue Self Storage Jodi Shirey

June 4, 2020 Intersection of Eau Claire Cayla Cygan
Street and Fifth Street

September 11, 2020 Save-A-Lot parking lot in Jodi Shirey

Pullman Square

The Grand Jury heard evidence that Baptisie had been purchasing heroin/fentanyl from
Feit on a daily basis for approximately two to three years. She was buying 10 to 20 bags per day.
Baptiste testified that she would text Feitl the number of bags that she wanted and then wait for
Feiil to send her a message regarding the meeting location. Baptiste stated that she routinely met
Feitl at the Save-A-lot or McDonald’s where the two would complete the {ransaction in the parking
lot,

The Grand Jury also heard testimony that Cygan began purchasing heroin/fentanyl from
Feitl in March or April 2020 and that she continued to purchase from her until sometime in
September of that year, Cygan stated that she purchased anywhere from 10 stamp bags to two
bricks! from Feitl on a daily basis. She would often meet Feitl at the Save-A-Lot or McDonald’s

where the two would complete the transaction in the parking lot.

! The Grand Jury learned that there are typically ten bags of heroin/fentanyl in a bundle and five
bundles in a brick. A brick usually weighs one to one and a half grams,




The Grand Jury learned that Winters began purchasing heroin/fentanyl from Feitl, on a
daily basis, sometime in May 2019. Winters purchased one or two bundles per day, occasionally
buying a brick. Winters met with Feitl at the Clearview Mall, Walmart, Greater Butler Mart and
other [ocations and they would complete the transaction in the parking lot.

On October 2, 2019, a search warrant was executed at Barlow’s residence in McKeespoit,
Allegheny County where 150 bricks of heroin were seized. Barlow was airested and then
transferred to the Butler County Prison on'a detainer. On November 15, 2019 at 10:54 am,,
Barlow placed a recorded call to Feitl from the prison. During the call, Feitl told Barlow that she
was “pissed.” She explained that she heard a garbage truck outside of her residence at 2:45 am.,
woke up, and assumed it was the police coming to her house. Feitl stated to Barlow, “I think you
already know what happened . . . ahh, bunch of shit went down the toilet.” Felil then elaborated
by stating, “I just fir*king, I just lost a bunch of money . . . I just firtked myself for real” meaning
that she had flushed the controlled substances that she had prepared to sell.

On November 18, 2019, in another recorded call between Feitl and Barlow, the two
discussed a search warrant that was executed at a residence in Butler that day where Shirey was
present. Feitl told Barlow that “Jodi got the car impounded with my God damn money in it”.

On February 2, 2020, in another recorded call to Barlow, Feitl stated, “The fiu*king
township cops are driving around . . . now I can’l leave. This is real fu*king stressful, this is
making me real sick fo my stomach right now. He's definitely watching. Ican’t be on the phone
right now and deal with this shit.”

On March 20, 2020, during a recorded call between Feitl and Barlow, Feitl was heard
talking to a female in the background. Teitl stated, “Whart the fur*k do I look like, a mother fu*king

gas station, go get cash.” Feitl then explained to Barlow that “the biich tried to pay me with a




loifery ficket.” Prior to this meeting, there were six calls and/or text messages between Feitl and
Barber, Following Feitl’s directive to “go gef cash,” there were an additional three calls and/or
text messages between Feitl and Barber.

On Match 8, 2020, Feitl flew from Piitsburgh to Miami and thereafter boarded a cruise
ship. Through GPS tracking, it was confirmed that she was out of the country until March 15, 2020
when she arrived in Miami and flew back to Pittsburgh. While Feit] was out of the country, Shivey
was in charge of handling Feitl’s “business.” Through a review of text messages and use of video
surveillance, it was determined that Shirey communicated with al least two of Feitl’s cusiomers -
- Winters and Baptiste' - - and subsequently sold heroin/fentanyl to them. Both Winters and
Baptiste were instructed by Feitl to contact Shirey in order to purchase the narcotics. Text messages
and video surveillance revealed that Winters purchased heroin/fentanyl from Shirey on at least six
occasions for atotal of 10 bundles or 100 stamps bags. Baptiste also purchased drugs from Shirey
on at least two occasions while Feitl was away,

On May 9, 2020, members of the Butler City Police Department arrested Winters for
driving under the influence and recovered 15 full stamp bags and five empty stamp bags. Winters
told the officers that she had purchased the drugs from “Dez” (Peitl). The drugs were subsequently
submitted to the Pennsylvania State Police Greensburg Regional Laboratory (“PSP Laboratory™)
for analysis. The results revealed the presence of heroin, a schedule 1 controlled substance, and
fentanyl, a schedule II controlled substance. Text messages between Feitl and Winters piior to her
traffic stop confirmed that Winters had, in fact, ordered 20 stamp bags from Feitl.

On July 28, 2020, officers were conducting surveillance in the parking lot at the Greater
Butler Mart in Butler Township when they observed Winters driving up and down the lanes of

parked vehicles very slowly. Winters appeared to be checking for the presence of surveillance/law




enforcement. She then parked on the north end of the fot, two rows south of the McDonald’s. Feitl
then drove into the parking lot, stopping adjacent to Winter's vehicle, Winters proceeded to get
out of her vehicle and go to the passenger side window of Feitl's vehicle. Winters then reached in
and made an exchange with Feitl. Winters returned to her vehicle and Feitl left the lot. Next,
Winters moved her vehicle and parked beside the McDonald’s. When she got out of her vehicle,
she was approached by the officers. Upon seeing them, she held out two bundles of heroin/fentanyl
- and stated, "She just rolled up on me and gave me these.” The drugs were submitted to the PSP
Laboratory and tested positive for heroin and fentanyl. Leading up to this purchase, there were
seven text messages and/or calls between Feitl and Winters,

On October 15, 2020, a traffic stop was initiated on Renaissance Drive in Butler County.
Powell was identified as the sole occupant of the vehicle.‘ A search of the vehicle revealed two
knotted baggies containing a combined total of approximately 1,149 stamp bags. The drugs were
submitted to the PSP Laboratory and tested positive for fentanyl, weighing 24.6 grams.

On October 15, 2020, Feitl was taken into custody on existing warrants while operating
her 2011 GMC Terrain. Seven bundles of suspected heroin and/or fentanyl were recovered from
her person. The 66 stamp bags were submitted to the PSP Laboratory where testing revealed the
presence of 1.6 grams of fentanyl. A warrant was thereafier obtained to search the 2011 GMC
Terrain, A search of that vehicle resulted in the seizure of the following: $533.00 in U.S, currency;
Nine deposit slips between the dates of March 16, 2020 and October 13, 2020 totaling $13,332.00
for First National Bank Account # 95044008; a Huntington Bank debit card in the name of Feitl;

and, a US Bank debit card in the name of Feitl.

Following Feitl’s arrest, a search warrant was also executed at her residence in Butler.

Investigators seized of 1,121 stamp bags of suspected heroin/fentanyl, $10,220.00 in .S, currency




and other drug-related items. The stamp bags were submitted to the PSP Laboratory whete testing
confirmed the presence of 27.4 grams of fentanyl.

Search warrants were also executed at two of Feitl’s storage facilities at Hillvue Storage in
Butler: D, Up 7 and B-6. The search conducted at D, Up 7 resulted in the seizure of a black safe
that contained approximately $234,000.00 in U.S. currency, the majority of which consisted of
$100.00 bills,

Narcotics Agent Douglas Brink (“NA Brink™) of the Pennsylvania Office of Attorney
General informed the Grand Jury that he spoke with a representatives at Dollar Bank who advised
that Feitl’s account had been flagged and subsequently closed due to concerns about money
laundering. They stated that Feit] routinely brouglht in small dollar bills and asked that they be
converted into $100.00 bills.

Powell to Crystal Pakutz to Brandi Zediler

Pakutz appeared before the Grand Jury and testified that she began purchasing
heroin/fentany] from Powell, whom she knows as “Slim,” in March or April 2020. Pakutz stated
that she was broke at the time and decided to “work” for hiin by selling heroin,

Pakutz testified that for the first few weeks, she was purchasing two bricks (100 stamp
bags) each time when Powell came to town. After that, she began purchasing 20 to 30 bricks per
irip, and, sometime in June or July, she began purchasing 20 to 30 grams of heroin/fentanyl in a
singie day. She stated that Powell had also provided her with a large quantity of empty stamp bags
during one of his trips. Pakutz told the Grand Jury that she lived at the Holiday Inn Express in
Butler for approximately one and one-half months prior to her arrest on October 1, 2020, Powell
would stay at the hotel when he was in town. She advised that sometimes he would stay in his

own room and other times he would stay with her in her room.




Pakutz advised that she sold the heroin/fentanyl that she purchased from Powell to various
other individuals on a regular basis. According to Pakutz, she had three clients who purchased
from her on a daily basis: Brandi Zediker (“Zediker”), Destiny Stemmerich (“Stemmerich”) and
Christian Manny (“Manny™). Zediker purchased five grams per day, every day, from March or
April until sometime in July or August when she begén purchasing five grams every other day
until October. In July or August, Pakutz advised that she also began selling to Stemmerich and
Manny, She stated that they each purchased one or two bricks, every day or every other day.
Pakutz stated that she also sold to other individuals, but not as regularly as she sold to Zediker,
Stemmerich and Manny. Pakutz advised that she would sometimes “front” these three individuals
the controlled substances. She explained that after she began purchasing drugs from Powell in
grams rather than stamp bags, she would provide empty stamp bags with the heroin/fentanyl to
Zediker, Stemmerich and Manny. They would then re-package it, sell it and bring Pakutz the
money that they owed to her. Pakutz also ‘told the Grand Jury that, on occasion, Powell had
provided her with itlegal drugs - - other than heroin/fentanyl - - to sell.

The Gran.d Jury learned that a review of telephone records and text messages confirmed
that Pakutz and Powell conumunicated on a regular basis and that Pakutz frequently communicated
with Zediker, Stemmerich and Mannty. Pakutz also communicated with multiple other individuals,
discussing the distribution of controlled substances.

On July 6, 2020, officers met with a confidential informant (“CI”") in order to conduct a
controlled purchase of two bundles of heroin from Zediker. The CI was searched prior to the
purchase and found to be free of controlled substances, money and weapons. The CI contacted
Zediker via telephone and arranged to meet at her (Zediker’s) residence. The CI was followed to

the residence and was under constant surveillance until entry into the home., A short time later,




the CI left the residence and returned to officers where he/she turned over 20 stamp bags, advising
that he/she had purchased the heroin from Zediker, The CI stated that Zediker had retrieved a
larger bag of heroin from her bedroom and bagged the individual stamp bags in the presence of
the CI. The drugs were subsequently submitted to the PSP Laboratory where testing revealed the
presence of less than 1 gram of fentanyl, or, approximately .019 grams of fentanyl per bag.

The Grand Jury learned that on September 10, 2020, Detective Timothy Fennell of the
Butler County District Attorney’s Office was conducting surveillance of Powell at the Holiday Inn
Express when he observed Lorraine Zediker (“L Zediker™), a known heroin user, arrive at the rear
of the hotel. Pakutz exited the hotel and met with L. Zediker for a brief period of time. Both of
them then departed in L. Zediker’s Jeep Cherokee. Pakutz was observed coming and going from
the hotel several times on September 10 and 11, 2020,

A review of text messages from Pakutz’s mobile telephone revealed that from September
9 through 11, 2020, Pakutz delivered heroin/fentanyl, crack cocaine and methamphetamine to at
least 10 different people. The quantities varied by person from a “bun” (10 stamp bags), a “whole,”
a “brick” or a “breezy” (50 stamp bags) to multiple grams of heroin/fentanyl. At one point during
these conversations Palutz told multiple customers that “My Ppls is here at the Telly(Hotel) wif
me & they have some light brown shyt; but IDK how it is. They actually wani me to have my Ppl
try it.” ‘The text messages intercepted indicated that Zediker arranged to trade "23 20°s”(pills)
with Pakutz for a “whole one, " meaning a brick of heroin/fentanyl, oﬁ September 10, 2020 as was
observed through surveillance.

On October 1, 2020, Pakutz was detained and placed in the Butler County Prison on a
bench warrant from Allegheny County. At 11:31 a.m., Pakutz placed a recorded telephone call to

her mother. During this call, she instructed her mother to go to the room and get the light pink
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book bag. At the end of the call, Pakutz stated: “Make sure you get everything out of that room

especially that book bag ASAP.”

Officers contacted management at the Holiday Inn Express and confirmed that Pakutz had
been staying in Room 206. Surveillance video from the rear of the hotel also confirnmed that Pakutz
stayed there on the night of September 30, 2020 into October 1, 2020. A search warrant was
subgequently executed on Room 206 and a bag of suspected fentanyl, a scale, emptyrstamp bags
and other packaging materials were recovered. The drugs were submitted to the PSP Laboratory

where testing revealed the presence of 8.67 grams of fentanyl.

Altogether, Powell made at least 33 trips from Philadeiphia to Butler, between January 18,
2020 and October 15, 2020, to deliver illegal drugs to Feitl and Pakutz. The dates of Powell’s trips
are as follows:
¢ January 18— 19, 2020
e January 25 - 26, 2020
e February 1 -4, 2020
e February 13 — 14, 2020
e February 22-23, 2020
e TFebruary 28 — March 2, 2020
e March 7-11, 2020
s  March 15 -16, 2020
e March 2021, 2020
e March 25 - 26, 2020
e April 1 -2,2020

o April 6-8,2020

I1




April 9-12, 2020

April 14 - 17,2020

April 21 —23, 2020

May 2 -5, 2020

May ¢ - 10, 2020

May 14— 16, 2020

May 20-22, 2020

May 25 - 27, 2020

May 30 — June 1, 2020

June 4-6, 2020

June 12 — 14, 2020

June 26 — 28, 2020

July 5—6, 2020

July 13 — 14, 2020

J;le 26 — 28, 2020

August 2, 2020 (round trip in one day)
August 9, 2020 (round trip in one day)
August 23 -25, 2020

September 9-11, 2020

September 16 — 18, 2020

September 30, 2020 (round {rip all in one day)

October 15, 2020
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NA Brink informed the Grand Jury that he was able to estimate the quantities of
heroin/fentanyl that Powell, Feitl and Pakutz were selling during the course of investigation based
upon witness interviews, narcotics seizures and text message conversations. Irom January 18,
2020 through October 15, 2020, he estimated that, on the conservative énd, Powell transported
approximately 1,030 bricks (1,030 grams) of heroin/fentanyl from Philadelphia to Butler County
for Feitl and Palkuiz. From January 18, 2020 through October 15, 2020, he estimated that, on the
conservative end, Feiil sold épproximately 256 bricks (256 grams) of heroin/fentanyl and that

Pakutz sold approximately 820 bricks (820 grams) of heroin/fentanyl from April 1, 2020 through

October 1, 2020.
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